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Brief portrait of Delignit AG

Delignit AG develops, manufactures and sells ecological, usually hard-
wood-based, materials and system solutions based on the natural, renewable 
and CO2-neutral raw material wood.

As a development, project and serial supplier for technology industries, such 
as the automotive industry, aviation industry and railway industry, business 
activity today is focused on creating and implementing technological and cus-
tomised applications and systems.

These applications and systems are used in the form of specific – predom-
inantly ready-to-install – parts, components, system solutions and module 
solutions. The foundation for this is provided by the Delignit material, which is 
essentially based on beech wood. Use of Delignit materials as a substitute for 
applications made of non-renewable raw materials improves the environmen-
tal balance of our customers products and meets their increasing ecological 
requirements.

Delignit AG’s operating business is divided into two target markets:

Automotive target market:
 
The Automotive target market is divided into the product groups light com-
mercial vehicles (LCV), motor caravans and passenger cars. The business ac-
tivity focuses on the manufacture and sale of cargo bay protection systems 
and security systems (interior) for the LCV class. For example, these systems 
are used extensively by leading manufacturers of light commercial vehicles 
as original equipment (OEM) and retrofit equipment (after-sales) as cargo bay 
floors, walls and partition walls. Interior furnishings, such as cabinet systems, 
are supplied for the motor caravan sector. In the passenger car sector, for 
example, trunk covers are used by well-known OEMs.

Technological Applications target market:

The products of the Technological Applications target market are divided into 
the product groups Building Equipment, Compressed Wood, Railfloor and 
Special Applications. In the Building Equipment business, for example, floor-
ing solutions for automotive manufacturing plants, as well as for goods distri-
bution centres and beech multiplex assortments are supplied via the timber 
trade. The Compressed Wood business consists of highly-compressed and 
medium-compressed materials that are used for plant construction, machine 
construction and transformer construction applications. The Railfloor busi-
ness provides manufacturers of rail vehicles with floor system solutions for 
fulfilment of international fire protection and sound insulation concepts. The 
Special business includes various special products for applications, such as 
model making, musical instruments and sports equipment.
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Delignit Group at a glance

Fiscal year (01/01 - 31/12) 2019 2018 ∆ 2019/
IFRS IFRS 2018

Earnings figures € thousand € thousand %

Revenue 64,360 60,273 6.8 %

Operating income 67,627 60,803 11.2 %

Cost of materials -40,585 -33,937 19.6 %

Staff costs -16,556 -16,330 1.4 %

Other operating expenses -5,669 -4,897 15.8 %

EBITDA 4,817 5,639 -14.6 %

EBITDA margin 7.1 % 9.3 % -2.2 %*

EBIT 2,328 4,024 -42.1 %

EBIT margin 3.4 % 6.6 % -3.2 %*

EBT 2,044 3,842 -46.8 %

EBT margin 3.0 % 6.3 % -3.3 %*

Consolidated net income 1,399 2,572 -45.6 %

Number of shares 8,193,900 8,193,900 0.0 %

EPS in € 0.17 0.31 -45.6 %

Statement of financial position figures € thousand € thousand %

Non-current assets 20,842 18,815 10.8 %

Current assets 19,307 19,510 -1.0 %

Cash and cash equivalents contained therein 1,499 298 403.0 %

Subscribed capital (share capital) 8,194 8,194 0.0 %

Other equity 11,408 10,452 9.1 %

Total equity 19,602 18,646 5.1 %

Equity ratio 48.8 % 48.7 % 0.2 %*

Non-current liabilities and provisions 8,074 5,817 38.8 %

Current liabilities and provisions 12,473 13,862 -10.0 %

Total assets 40,149 38,325 4.8 %

Net financial debt (net debt (-)/net cash (+)) -9,576 -7,824 17.7 %

Employees (reporting date 31/12)

Germany 390 361 8.0 %

* Change in percentage points, differences due to commercial rounding
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Greetings from the Management Board

Dear shareholders,

We can look back to a particularly dynamic 2019 fiscal year, one important for 
shaping the future. Delignit AG Group revenue rose year-on-year by 6.8 % to 
a new record of €64.4 million, exceeding the revenue guidance adjusted in 
August 2019. Delignit’s EBITDA margin was 7.1 %, at the upper end of the 
targeted 6 % to 7 % range. Consolidated net income came to €1.4 million, 
considerably below the previous year’s figure of €2.6 million. 

Looking back, our Automotive target market and especially the market en-
vironment in relation to light commercial vehicles was stable, even growing 
slightly. Thanks to a further broadened customer and project basis, we again 
managed to gain ground in this target market. However, on the basis of a very 
dynamic start to the year and on the back of further high-volume project call-
offs for the rest of fiscal year 2019, we created the necessary capacity with 
cost-intensive measures. Unfortunately, the higher call-ups were not made at 
the levels advised and the subsequent costs for capacity adjustments accom-
panied us for the whole of the fiscal year. A further positive factor contributing 
to the revenue upturn was a new large order in the motor caravan sector, 
which opened the door to the very promising market of the motor caravan 
industry. However, this new order was also the main reason for the drop in 
the Group’s profitability. For series production of the equipment components 
in a newly launched model start-up, investments and changes to the supply 
volume shortly before the start of production resulted in unplanned additional 
costs. Group profitability was also negatively impacted by a year-on-year rev-
enue decline in the Technological Applications target market. Without the 
loss from the motor caravan business, the EBITDA margin would have been 
around 9 %. 

Another strategic milestone in the past year was expanding the cooperation 
with a global leader for commercial vehicles in the USA. The serial supply con-
tract to equip systems for cargo bay protection and cargo securing systems 
strengthens Delignit AG’s position in the light commercial vehicles class. In 
view of pending cooperations on the OEM side, it offers a good starting point 
for outstanding discussions on new vehicle generations to be developed. 
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In the current 2020 fiscal year, the initially good economic situation at Delignit 
AG changed dramatically within a few weeks. The spread of the corona virus 
presented Delignit AG, its management and all employees with a challenge 
unique in its proportions. Due to the restrictions resulting from the Covid-19 
pandemic and the related production standstills at numerous automobile 
manufacturers, we registered a considerable demand downturn. Production 
capacity was immediately adjusted, utilizing the opportunities of short-time 
work and even closing some plants in line with demand. Short-time work was 
also notified for large parts of the administration. Here the protection of the 
health of the staff was resolutely placed as the key factor driving decisions.
  
In this context, it is not possible to retain the guidance for the 2020 fiscal year 
published in February 2020. We as the Management Board will communicate 
a new guidance as soon as the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic can be 
estimated. In view of the possible impact of the corona virus on the further 
development of business, we are proposing not to pay a dividend for the 2019 
fiscal year.

We are confident that we will master this challenge together and despite 
these difficulties remain optimistic on the way forward with the Delignit AG. 

In conclusion, we would like to thank all our employees for their commitment 
and their hard work in the past fiscal year, as well as the vigorous implemen-
tation of the necessary corona measures which we took at an early stage. 
We would like to thank you, dear shareholders, for your confidence in Delignit 
AG. We would be pleased if you continued to accompany the further devel-
opment of Delignit AG even in these challenging times.

Kind regards

Markus Büscher
CEO

Thorsten Duray
CSO
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The Management Board

Markus Büscher

Markus Büscher is Chairman of the Management Board. His responsibilities 
include the areas Strategic Development, Controlling, Human Resources, Le-
gal, Purchasing, IT, Production, R&D divisions as well as Investor Relations. 
Mr Büscher is a business economist (VWA). Until 2003, Mr Büscher was 
commercial director and company officer with statutory authority at klr-me-
diapartner GmbH & Co. KG. In 2003, Mr Büscher moved to Freund Victoria 
Gartengeräte GmbH as managing director, where he was responsible for the 
main areas of the company as spokesman for the management board. In 
2007 he joined the Delignit Group as Managing Director

Thorsten Duray

Thorsten Duray is a member of the company's Management Board. He is re-
sponsible for marketing and sales. Mr Duray completed professional training 
as an industrial manager and business administrator in the field of marketing. 
Since 1991 he has worked for Blomberger Holzindustrie GmbH in various positions, 
initially in sales promotion and marketing. Since 2001, he has significantly built 
up the Commercial Vehicle Equipment unit as Team Leader Sales. In 2006 he 
became Head of Sales and Marketing. Since 1 January 2007 he has been a 
member of the Management Board of Blomberger Holzindustrie GmbH.

The Management Board team

Markus Büscher (CEO) and Thorsten Duray (CSO)
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Report of the Supervisory Board

1. Reporting

In accordance with the duties and responsibilities imposed by law and the 
Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board was continuously informed of 
the business and strategic development of the company, as well as current 
events and all material business transactions during the fiscal year. Thus, the 
Supervisory Board was always aware of the business policy, the planning of 
the company, the risk situation, as well as the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of Delignit AG and the Delignit Group. 

This occurred both in regular personal discussions between the Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board and the members of the Management Board and in 
the course of the Supervisory Board meetings held on 28 March 2019, 
4 June 2019, 25 September 2019 and 22 November 2019, in which all 
Supervisory Board members participated personally. As part of the individu-
al meetings, the Supervisory Board together with the Management Board 
analysed the current business development and discussed the strategic ori-
entation. If specific transactions required the approval of the Supervisory Board 
in accordance with the Articles of Association or legal provisions, the Supervisory 
Board reviewed these transactions and decided on the approval of these trans-
actions. The discussions extended to the economic situation of Delignit AG, 
as well as that of the individual subsidiaries. Moreover, outside the meetings, 
all members of the Supervisory Board were kept informed by the Management 
Board concerning the course of these transactions at all times. There were no 
indications of conflicts of interest on the part of members of the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board, which must be disclosed to the Supervisory 
Board without delay. 

Furthermore, in the past financial year, the Supervisory Board addressed the 
equal participation of women and men in management positions and 
discussed this with the Management Board. At present, all members of the 
Supervisory Board (three members) and the Management Board (two members) 
are men. The Supervisory Board has the conviction that the key criteria for 
selecting management must be professional and personal suitability. At the 
same time, when filling new positions in company management bodies it is 
the objective of the Supervisory Board to pay increased attention to increasing 
the share of women (diversity). 
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2. Organisation

Personnel changes did not occur in Supervisory Board or in the Management 
Board. The Supervisory Board of Delignit AG has three members. This as-
sures efficient work. In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, this number of 
Supervisory Board members is appropriate for the size of the company. For 
these reasons, the Supervisory Board has not yet formed any committees. 
The Supervisory Board of Delignit AG consists of Dr Christof Nesemeier, 
Mr Gert-Maria Freimuth and Mr Anton Breitkopf. The Supervisory Board was 
elected in its current composition when the company became a public limited 
company on 9 July 2007 and was re-elected in its previous composition in the 
Annual General Meeting of 20 June 2017. The Supervisory Board elected 
Dr Christof Nesemeier as Chairman and Mr Gert-Maria Freimuth as his Depu-
ty, on 20 June 2017. The term in office ends at the close of the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting that decides on formal approval of the actions of the members 
of the Supervisory Board for fiscal year 2021.  

3. Annual financial statements

The Supervisory Board duly engaged Rödl & Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Cologne, the auditors ap-
pointed by the Annual General Meeting to audit the annual financial state-
ments and the consolidated financial statements for the 2019 fiscal year. 
The auditor has submitted a declaration of independence to the Supervisory 
Board. 

The annual financial statements of Delignit AG as at 31 December 2019 were 
prepared in accordance with the principles of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB), the consolidated financial statements and the group management re-
port for Delignit AG as at 31 December 2019 were prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and audited by Rödl & 
Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, 
Cologne, which was elected by the Annual General Meeting and engaged by 
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, and an unqualified audit opinion was 
issued on 12 March 2020 for Delignit AG and for the Delignit Group. More-
over, the report of the Management Board of Delignit AG concerning the 
relationships to affiliated companies in accordance with Section 312 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (AktG) (dependency report) was audited by Rödl & 
Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, 
Cologne, and an unqualified audit opinion was issued on 12 March 2020. 
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The Supervisory Board examined the annual financial statements prepared 
by the Management Board, the group management report, the consolidated 
financial statements, the proposal for the appropriation of net retained profits 
and the dependent company report in accordance with Sections 171, 314 AktG, 
discussed them in detail with the auditor at the Supervisory Board meeting 
on 18 March 2020 and received reports from the auditor on the main results 
of its audit, including the audit of the internal control system and risk manage-
ment system. The auditor comprehensively answered all questions posed by 
the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board received the auditor's 
reports in good time and acknowledged and approved the results of the audit. 
Following the concluding result of the review undertaken by the Supervisory 
Board, no objections were raised concerning the annual financial statements, 
the proposal for appropriation of earnings, the group management report, 
the dependent company report, the declaration by the Management Board 
concerning relations with affiliated companies and the consolidated financial 
statements. The annual financial statements and the consolidated financial 
statements were approved by the Supervisory Board on 18 March 2020. The 
annual financial statements of Delignit AG are thus adopted. The Supervisory 
Board shares the Management Board's assessment of the situation in the 
group management report and acknowledges the Management Board's pro-
posal for the appropriation of net profits.

4. COVID 19

The Covid-19 pandemic represents an extraordinary challenge to Delignit AG. 
Since the end of February 2020, the Supervisory Board and Management 
Board have been in regular contact on pending measures. Highest priority 
is attached to the protection of the health of employees across the Delignit 
Group and the substantial protection of the economic basis of the corporate 
group. 

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Management Board, the 
management of the Group companies and all employees of the Delignit 
Group for their outstanding commitment and the results achieved in the past 
fiscal year and in these times wishes each and every one good health and 
much success in coping with the outstanding challenges. 

Blomberg, 18 March 2020 

Dr Christof Nesemeier
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Dr Christof Nesemeier
Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board

Gert-Maria Freimuth
Deputy Chairman of the Super-
visory Board

Anton Breitkopf
Member of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board

Dr Christof Nesemeier
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dr Christof Nesemeier is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Delignit AG. 
He is a member of the Board of Directors and Managing Director (CEO) of 
MBB SE, Berlin, and a member of the Supervisory Board of Aumann AG, 
Beelen. Dr Nesemeier studied economics at the University of Münster and 
received his doctorate at the University of St. Gallen, Switzerland.

Gert-Maria Freimuth
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Mr Gert-Maria Freimuth is Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 
Delignit AG and Chairman of the Board of Directors of MBB SE, Berlin, Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board of DTS IT AG, Herford, and Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board of Aumann AG, Beelen. Mr Freimuth studied economics 
and Christian social ethics at the University of Münster and is a founding 
shareholder of MBB SE alongside Dr Nesemeier.

Anton Breitkopf
Member of the Supervisory Board

He studied business administration at the Cologne University of Applied 
Sciences and worked in finance and controlling at Daimler Benz until 1998. 
He is a member of the Administrative Board of MBB SE, Berlin, and Deputy 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of DTS IT AG, Herford.
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Group management report for the 2019 fiscal year 
Delignit AG, Blomberg

1. General description of the company

The Delignit Group develops, produces and sells ecological materials and 
system solutions made of renewable raw materials under the brand name 
Delignit. As a recognised development, project and serial supplier of leading 
automotive groups, the Delignit Group is, among other things, world market 
leader for supplying the automotive industry with cargo bay protection and 
cargo securing systems for light commercial vehicles. With a variety of appli-
cations and a vertical integration that are unique in its industry, the Delignit 
Group serves numerous other technology sectors, for example as a world-
wide system supplier of reputable rail vehicle manufacturers. Delignit solutions 
have exceptional technical properties and are also used, among other things, 
as trunk floors in passenger cars, interior equipment for motor caravans and 
special floors for factory and logistics buildings and to improve building security 
standards. Delignit material is predominantly based on European hardwood, is 
CO2-neutral in its life cycle and therefore ecologically superior to non-regen-
erative materials. The use of the Delignit material therefore improves the 
environmental performance of customer products and meets their increasing 
ecological requirements. The company was founded over 200 years ago. 
Delignit AG is listed in the Scale segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

2. Business and framework conditions

In 2019, the German economy grew for the tenth year in a row. However, the 
momentum of this growth slowed palpably. This was due primarily to weak-
ness in industry. In 2019, total economic output increased by 0.6 %. Even 
though this was somewhat more than recently anticipated, it is considerably 
less than the past ten years in which the gross domestic product averaged an 
annual increase of approximately 1.3 % (source: press release dated 
15 January 2020 from the German Federal Statistical Office). 

In 2019 growth was underpinned primarily by consumption. Private and state 
consumption rose more quickly than in the two previous years. In addition, 
gross investment in assets rose strongly. On a price-adjusted basis 3.8 % 
more was invested than in the year before. Other investments, which include 
research and development expenditure, were well up year on year, increasing 
by 2.7 %. On the other hand, investment on equipment - including largely 
capital expenditure on machines, equipment and vehicles - developed less 
dynamically, rising by only 0.4 % (source: press release dated 15 January 2020 
from the German Federal Statistical Office).

Across the board, German exports also continued to grow in 2019, but not as 
strongly as in previous years. On a price-adjusted basis, the German economy 
exported 0.9 % more goods and services than in 2018. There was a stronger 
rise in price-adjusted imports of 1.9 % (source: German Federal Statistical 
Office press release dated 15 January 2020). 
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In its 2019 autumn forecast, the European Commission confirmed that the Eu-
ropean economy expanded for the seventh successive year. Labour markets 
are robust and unemployment continues to decline. However, the external 
global economic environment has become much less supportive to growth 
and uncertainty is running high. The ongoing trade dispute between the USA 
and China combined with high political uncertainty, particularly in trade, is 
holding back investment, manufacturing and international trade (source: 2019 
European Commission autumn forecast).

The 2019 European Commission autumn forecast is for domestic product 
growth in the eurozone of 1.1 % in 2019. Compared to the summer forecast 
published in 2019, growth expectations for 2019 were taken back by 0.1 per-
centage point (from the previous figure of 1.2 %). 

The special target markets of the Delignit Group, i.e. the markets in the auto-
motive sector and the engineered wood industry, developed in a mixed way. 
While the automotive sector posted positive growth rates in the fiscal year, 
the engineered wood industry declined. 

The number of new registrations of light commercial vehicles in Europe in-
creased by 2.8 % compared with the previous year, following growth of 3.1 % 
in 2018. The larger markets for light commercial vehicles continued to show 
slight growth in 2019, with an upturn in France of 4.5 %, in Italy of 3.4 % 
and 2.4 % in Great Britain. The growth in vehicle registration figures in Spain 
dropped from 7.8 % in the previous year to 0.3 % this year (source: ACEA). 

The number of new registrations of light commercial vehicles in Germany, a 
market important for the Delignit Group, moved up by 6.9 % (previous year: 
5.4 %). After a standstill in the previous year (0.2 %), passenger car registra-
tions in Germany again posted a rise, of 5.0 % (source: ACEA).

In the markets of the engineered wood industry, sales in Germany from Jan-
uary to December 2019 declined by -4.5 % (previous year: -1.4 %). In almost 
all months, sales in the engineered wood industry were down on the previous 
year. In the same period, there was an even sharper decline of -7.5 % for 
foreign sales in the engineered wood industry, after a slight upturn of 1.0 % 
had been recorded in the previous year (source: Association of the German 
Wood-Based Panel Industry).
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3. Market environment of the Delignit Group

In fiscal year 2019, the Delignit Group's revenue increased by 6.8  % to 
€64,360 thousand (previous year: €60,273 thousand). Revenue has increased 
by an average of 10.8 % per year since fiscal year 2010 and in a multi-year 
comparison has developed as shown in the chart below:
 

In the Automotive target market, revenue rose by 17.8  % (previous year: 
23.8  %) from €46,662  thousand to €54,967  thousand. However, develop-
ment over the course of the year was very varied. In the first few months of 
the year, the growth momentum in light commercial vehicles was very pro-
nounced and thus followed on seamlessly from the development at the end 
of 2018. This growth which was higher than the market was driven primarily 
by special call-offs generated from project business with large OEM custom-
ers. Since early summer, the capacity created for the special call-offs was not 
utilised and was scaled back to the end of the year. In parallel, the NAFTA 
business initially also generated volumes that fell well short of expectations. 
Revenue with passenger cars was expected to decline, but the delayed WLTP 
registrations had an additional negative impact. 

The serial supply order in the motor caravan business announced in fiscal year 
2018 already contributed a substantial portion of the revenue growth. However, 
the delayed series production start and extensive order changes caused per-
formance to fall short of expectations in this area, too. On the basis of the 
notified call-off volumes, however, the ordered volumes are currently only ex-
pected to be delayed. 

14,423   

46,662   
54,967   

2010 2018 2019
Fig. II: Revenue in Automotive target market since 2010 in € thousand 

25,651   

60,273   64,360   

2010 2018 2019
Fig. I: Revenue development since 2010 for the Delignit Group in € thousand
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In the Technological Applications target market, after the 9.3 % downturn in 
the 2018 fiscal year, in the 2019 fiscal year there was a considerable decline 
from €13,611 thousand to €9,392 thousand. This downturn resulted from all 
product groups. In particular, however, revenue also declined in the railway busi-
ness due to the lack of follow-on orders. 

11,228   
13,611   

9,392   

2010 2018 2019
Fig. III: Revenue in Technological Applications target market since 2010 in € thousand

From a geographical perspective, the Delignit Group's revenue growth in fis-
cal year 2019 was again carried exclusively by export markets. Due to cus-
tomer orders being shifted abroad, domestic German revenue decreased by 
approximately 12.6 %. Thus the Group increased its export ratio to 53.9 % 
(previous year: 43.7 %), corresponding to export revenue of €34,680 thou-
sand (previous year: €26,328 thousand). 

Fig. IV: Export development in € thousand

In summary, it can be stated that the Delignit Group revenue continued to 
develop successfully in the past fiscal year. The wood-based products of the 
Delignit Group are characterised by special technical and mechanical prop-
erties (e.g. abrasion and wear resistance, dimensional stability and breaking 
load), but also by ecological aspects. Wood products are long-term reposito-
ries for climate-damaging CO2: One cubic metre of wood absorbs almost one 
tonne of carbon dioxide. This strong, and in some cases disproportionately 
high, growth in revenue already achieved over several years, compared to the 
development in the target markets, substantiates the good market position 
of the Delignit Group. Based on material expertise, coupled with application 
and system expertise that is higher than what is customary on the market, 
the Delignit Group has created an excellent framework for further growth. 
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4. Organisation

a. Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of Delignit AG comprises Dr  Christof Nesemeier, 
Gert-Maria Freimuth and Anton Breitkopf. The Supervisory Board was elect-
ed in its current composition when the company was founded on 9 July 2007 
and was re-elected in its current composition at the Annual General Meetings 
on 10 July 2012 and 20 June 2017. The Supervisory Board elected Dr Christof 
Nesemeier as Chairman and Gert-Maria Freimuth as his Deputy. The term in 
office ends at the close of the Annual General Meeting that decides on formal 
approval of the actions of the members of the Supervisory Board for fiscal 
year 2021.

b. Management Board

The Management Board responsibilities are allocated as follows:

CEO Markus Büscher is responsible for the areas of Strategic Development, 
Controlling, Human Resources, Legal, Purchasing, IT, Production, R&D and 
Investor Relations. Thorsten Duray is responsible for Sales and Marketing. 

Rules of procedure for the Management Board were adopted by a resolution 
of the Supervisory Board of 13 July 2007. The rules of procedure define which 
transactions (e.g. planned investments above a set amount and acquisitions 
and sales of companies and land above a set amount) require the approval 
of the Supervisory Board. The Management Board has been appointed for a 
term that will expire on 30 September 2023.

According to the Articles of Association, the company is legally represented 
jointly by two members of the Management Board or by one member of the 
Management Board in conjunction with an authorised signatory. The mem-
bers of the Management Board are also responsible for management in all 
Group companies together with the local management of these companies.



Page 19 of 84

c. Shareholdings

As at the end of the reporting period, Delignit AG had a direct or indirect stake 
in the following companies: 

100.0 %

Delignit AG

3

100.0 %

DHK automotive 
GmbH

58

100.0 %

Blomberger Holzindustrie
GmbH 

329

Delignit 
North America Inc.

Delignit Immobiliengesellschaft mbH (100.0 %)
Hausmann Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH (100.0 %)

0

Non-operating entity:

Number of employees as at 31 Dec. 2019

Companies in which shares are held:
Delignit AG holds a 17.9 % stake in S.C. Cildro S.A. / S.C. Cildro Service S.R.L.
Blomberger Holzindustrie GmbH holds a 24.0 % stake in S.C. Cildro Plywood S.R.L.

Fig. V: Organisation chart of the Delignit Group 

d. Employees

The good order situation during the entire fiscal year resulted in a high utili-
sation of production capacities. The number of staff was increased accord-
ingly from 361 employees at the beginning of the year to 390. In addition, 
up to 58 temporary workers were employed in order to compensate flexibly 
for bottlenecks in production depending on delivery dates. Other peak order 
periods were covered by placing contract manufacturing orders with other 
companies.
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Fig. VI: Staff levels since 2010

The subsidiaries of Delignit AG are well-known training companies, which 
systematically build up their employees’ qualifications, including on the basis 
of a professional quality management system, and integrate them into the 
continuous improvement process of operational flows. This process was con-
tinued with intensive integration of the workforce in fiscal year 2019. Training 
continued at the companies of the Delignit Group in fiscal year 2019 and this 
responsibility will be continued in future fiscal years.
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5. Results of operations, financial position and net assets

The Delignit Group experienced a challenging fiscal 2019. The primary goal 
was to create the capacity required for the special call-offs in the commercial 
vehicles business, but at the same time to implement the start of production 
(SOP) for equipment components in Delignit AG’s new motor caravans target 
market. Both were realised, but resulted in substantial costs and lowered 
the results of operations throughout fiscal year 2019. In addition, earnings 
were negatively impacted by lower revenue in the generally higher-margin 
Rail business. Here there were no follow-up orders on expired projects.

Results of operations
 
In 2019, the Delignit Group achieved revenue of €64,360 thousand (previous 
year: €60,273 thousand). Total operating performance, including other oper-
ating income and inventory changes, amounted to €67,627 thousand (previ-
ous year: €60,803 thousand). Other operating income includes income from 
the reversal of a warranty provision and the reversal on a write-down made 
on a precautionary basis in the previous year, but which the Delignit Group 
will not utilise.  

Cost of materials amounted to 60.0 % of total operating performance, higher 
than the previous year's level (55.8 %). This is due firstly to a changed product 
mix, resulting primarily from the decline in revenue from the usually high-
er-margin Technological Applications products. Secondly, short-term order 
changes in the manufacture of motor caravan equipment led to higher mate-
rial consumption than originally planned. Finally, temporary additional capacity 
required for special call-offs in the commercial vehicles business was bought 
in, which likewise had a negative impact on the cost of materials ratio to the 
end of the fiscal year. 

Staff costs were €16,556 thousand after €16,330 thousand in the previous 
year. The increase resulted from the higher number of employees combined 
with wage and salary increases, while the expenses and provisions for the 
virtual share option programme for the managed were considerably lower. 
In the reporting period 50,000 shares of a possible 120,000 shares from the 
virtual stock option programme were realised by management. Pro rata provi-
sions were established for the remaining virtual stock options. As a result of 
the strong upturn in total operating performance, the staff cost ratio declined 
by 2.4 percentage points to 24.5 %. 

Other operating expenses increased by €772 thousand compared to the pre-
vious year. The increase resulted primarily in higher maintenance expenses 
year on year due firstly to the greater utilisation of machinery and secondly 
to increased claims from fire insurers. Despite the additional expenditure, the 
other operating expenses ratio rose only moderately to 8.4 % from 8.1 % in 
the previous year.
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EBITDA in the past fiscal year was €4,817  thousand (previous year: 
€5,639 thousand), down by 14.6 % (previous year: increase of 15.9 %). This 
corresponds to an EBITDA margin of 7.1 % in relation to total operating per-
formance compared to 9.3 % in the previous year. The main reason for this 
earnings decline was an unplanned loss on the new major order for motor 
caravan equipment amounting to an almost seven-figure amount. Thus the 
EBITDA margin fell from 9.3 % of total operating performance in the previous 
year to 7.1 %. Adjusted for this effect, the EBITDA margin would have been 
around 9 %. In addition, earnings were squeezed by the capacity increases 
for anticipated special call-offs in the commercial vehicles business, which 
were not called up at the anticipated level. Because of this effect, invento-
ries also increased significantly, so a positive change in inventories of over 
€2 million is reported. In relation to revenue of €64.4 million, the EBITDA 
margin was 7.5 % as against 9.4 % in the previous year. 

Depreciation and amortisation in the 2019 fiscal year was €2,489 thousand 
(previous year: €1,615  thousand). Higher depreciation in the fiscal year re-
sulted from the extensive capital expenditure in machinery and technical 
equipment in this and the previous fiscal year. The initial application of the 
regulations on IFRS 16 resulted in additional depreciation and amortisation 
of €227 thousand and additional interest expenses of €11 thousand. On the 
other hand, lease expenses declined by €238 thousand in the area of other 
operating expenses.. 
 
In the reporting period, EBIT decreased to € 2,328 thousand after € 4,024 thou-
sand in the previous year.  

In the product development area costs again increased in the 2019 fiscal year. 
For external development contracts alone, costs amounting to €195 thousand 
(previous year: €164  thousand) were recorded. In addition, there were ex-
penses for internal testing and validation, as well as the costs of the develop-
ment department. Due to the general character of development activities in 
the past fiscal year, costs were not capitalised, but were directly recognised 
as expenses.

Net assets

As at the reporting date, fixed assets amounted to €19,265 thousand (pre-
vious year: €17,333 thousand). This essentially includes the values for land 
as well as machines. Inventories amounted to €15,157  thousand after 
€10,302 thousand in the previous year. Current receivables/assets essential-
ly include trade receivables and receivables from factoring for invoices yet to 
be purchased. Trade receivables declined year on year by €3,481 thousand. 
As a result of improvements in purchasing factoring receivables and by real-
ising tax refund claims, other receivables were reduced by €2,775 thousand 
against the previous year.

Current provisions were primarily recognised for uncertain liabilities and per-
sonnel costs. Current liabilities essentially include liabilities from taxes, as 
well as from wages and salaries. As at the balance sheet date, equity of the 
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Delignit Group was €19,602  thousand (previous year: €18,646  thousand) 
and results in an equity ratio of 48.8 % (previous year: 48.7 %). The figure 
below shows the changes in equity:

9,052   

18,646   19,602   

2010 2018 2019
Fig. VIII: Changes in equity since 2010 in € thousand 

Financial position

The Delignit Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to €1,499 thousand 
as at the end of the reporting period (previous year: €298 thousand). Total 
liabilities to banks amounted to €7,244 thousand (previous year: €8,122 thousand), 
of which €4,881 thousand are current. Net debt on the reporting date was 
€9,576  thousand (previous year: €7,824  thousand). The increase in net 
liabilities is due primarily to the first time inclusion of lease liabilities in line 
with IFRS 16 and hire-purchase liabilities.  

Trade receivables declined year on year by €3,481 thousand. In addition, oth-
er current receivables also decreased. The decrease in current receivables/
assets resulted primarily from the considerable reduction of factoring receiv-
ables being examined but not yet purchased and to payments from refund 
claims for tax prepayments.
 
This was countered by inventories moving up €4,855 thousand, due to higher 
business volume and new business areas.

After 2018, 2019 was another year also characterised by extensive invest-
ment measures. In particular, investments were made in new capacities 
to start series production in the motor caravan business and in an ERP pro-
gramme. The outflow of funds arising from investment measures in 2019 
amounted to €2,864 thousand (previous year: €3,042 thousand).

Overall, EBITDA and the decrease in working capital resulted in positive 
cash flow from operating activities of €5,864  thousand (previous year: 
€-245 thousand).

The Delignit Group has sufficient lines of credit to finance working capital. The 
company was able to meet its financial obligations at all times.
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6. Hedging transactions

Transactions within the Group are carried out exclusively on a euro basis. This 
also applies to Delignit North America Inc., which settles in a foreign curren-
cy only for services obtained in the USA. Since the balance of non-hedged 
foreign currency positions in the Group due to transactions with foreign com-
panies outside the euro zone only has only a minimal volume to date, the 
Delignit Group has not pursued any active exchange rate hedging relative to 
other currencies. 

7. Remuneration report

The remuneration of the Management Board consists of fixed and variable 
components. The Management Board also receives reimbursement of ex-
penses against receipt. Moreover, the Management Board is also covered by 
a Group D&O insurance policy with a deductible and an accident insurance 
policy. In addition, the Management Board also receives a subsidy for private 
health insurance and long-term care insurance and each member also uses a 
company car. The members of the Management Board also receive contin-
ued pay in the event of illness for up to six weeks. Moreover a virtual stock 
option program has been agreed for the Management Board. Also bonuses 
have been paid out for achievement of various company objectives. No other 
benefits (e.g. pension entitlements, direct commitments or severance pay-
ments) have been agreed.

The Supervisory Board is remunerated on a fixed basis. The Supervisory 
Board also receives reimbursement of expenses against receipt. The mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board each receive an annual fixed basic amount. The 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives twice this basic amount and the 
Deputy Chairman receives one and a half times this basic amount.

The breakdown of the remuneration of the Management Board and Supervi-
sory Board and a description of the virtual stock option program is provided in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

8. Risk report

The following significant risks for further development must be cited:

	The increasing volume of OEM serial supply orders is of the utmost impor-
tance in terms of market strategy. However, this also increases Delignit 
Group's dependence on specific major customers and the automotive in-
dustry overall. This situation will be countered with further development of 
other customers in this sector or related sectors, but also by maintaining 
the traditional business areas. 
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	Security of supply and price spiral on the raw materials markets

	  �The material supply with round timber must be secured both tactically and 
strategically. Due to the undiminished strong use of wood as an energy 
source, it must be assumed that wood will become scarce as a raw mate-
rial. The Delignit Group is countering the misallocation of round wood as a 
source of energy without having used it technologically beforehand with 
the initiative, "Using wood responsibly". Moreover, in order to broaden the 
procurement base, the increasing trend in recent years towards shorter 
harvest seasons due to weather conditions must be countered by building 
up other sources of supply.

	  �As a result of the extreme summer periods in 2018 and 2019, there was 
considerable damage in forests. This resulted in emergency measures, 
particularly in respect to coniferous wood. For beach, the type of wood 
most relevant for the Delignit Group, damage was also detected, but it 
was comparatively low. As of now, the company anticipates that the sup-
ply of high-quality wood is secured.   

	  �Prices for the glues, films and resins used in the engineered wood indus-
try, as well as the purchased energy are directly or indirectly related to the 
crude oil price. 

	On the sales markets, a risk of insolvency or a cancellation of the credit limit 
for (major) customers can also occur. Possible slumps in sales could only be 
compensated in the long term. 

 
	On the procurement markets, failure of (main) suppliers can occur. 

	Country-specific risks result from the ongoing internationalisation of busi-
ness. The interlinking of international flows of goods, in particular with OEM 
customers, but also with suppliers, can result in regional unrest or political 
influences leading to an interruption of the supply chain.

	
	�The changing environmental conditions can result in impacting the ability of 

the Delignit Group to deliver. For example, storms and heavy rain can dam-
age buildings and production facilities. Epidemics or even pandemics can 
result in widespread illnesses and production downtime. This can result in 
international constraints on the exchange of services, both on the supplier 
and the customer side, as well as an economic slowdown.

	International trends or regulations (e.g. WLTP) can result in market changes 
that can be responded to only with a time lag. 

	Regional or country-specific risks, liability risks, and also currency risks can 
arise from operations of Delignit North America Inc. and the resulting busi-
ness activity in the NAFTA region.
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	Due to increased series production start-ups in both target markets, in-
creasing complexity can also result in cost burdens that cannot be passed 
on to the customer. For example, issues such as production interruptions 
(internal and external), increased scrap, necessary additional work effort 
and consulting services to be purchased are cited here.

	Demographic developments can result in staff shortages and a shortage of 
skilled workers if business capacity utilisation continues to increase. More-
over, an increased number of collective bargaining agreements in the area 
of staff costs can occur. It will be possible to pass on these increased staff 
costs to the markets only in part or with a time lag.

	The corporate strategy of further internationalisation and also further ma-
terial qualification is an essential component of the Delignit Group's future 
success. These requirements are juxtaposed with internally limited capaci-
ties. If it is not possible to respond in time to customer requirements, exist-
ing or potential customers can turn to alternative solutions. Therefore it is 
imperative to further increase the consulting, development and application 
competence in the enterprise. However the operational production capaci-
ties must also be aligned to the different new product start-ups. 

The Delignit Group counters these risks with various measures. The following 
measures are cited as examples:

	Quality management system:
	 The companies have functional quality management systems (extending to 

IATF 16949). 

	Contract management:
	 On the one hand, important supplier and customer relationships are secured 

by long-term delivery contracts. On the other hand, international supply or 
cooperation agreements are subject to a preliminary legal examination. 

	Staff development:
	 The Delignit Group responds to demographic developments with targeted 

and broadened vocational training and a qualification program to further 
extend its technical consulting expertise.

	Operational investment activity:
	 An investment program tailored to the operational needs is intended to 

leverage further rationalisation potential and expand capacities in a targeted 
manner.

	Supplier management:
	 Where possible, a second source of supply should be qualified for all rele-

vant raw materials.
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9. Strategic orientation and opportunities of the Delignit Group

The corporate strategy continues to be based on megatrends in the techno-
logical target markets. In particular, the Delignit Group recognises two eco-
logically-driven trends: 

	Firstly, the endeavour to use renewable raw materials, insofar as these 
materials are technologically competitive, as a substitute for finite products.

	Secondly, undiminished pressure to develop system solutions that are as 
weight-optimised as possible. 

Furthermore, the Delignit Group is increasingly focused on providing techno-
logical answers to urgent user questions, partly resulting from new legisla-
tion, and developing appropriate system solutions. Consequently, the Delignit 
Group is continuing this successful strategy of combining material, application 
and system expertise in a targeted manner. 

This is being achieved via the methods presented below:  

	Material development and qualification:

	 The Delignit material with its special, primarily technical properties is an 
essential foundation for the successful development of the Delignit Group. 
The Delignit Group intends to further develop the Delignit material as part of 
its development activities and to qualify it for special applications and cus-
tomer requirements. Product innovations in the Automotive target markets 
will be presented at IAA Commercial Vehicles 2020 in Hanover. Product 
innovations in the rail business are to be exhibited at the Innotrans 2020 
trade fair in Berlin. In fiscal year 2020 intensive efforts will again be under-
taken in the product development area. Development is always focused on 
the principle of developing ecological products for technological applications. 
Therefore, the market opportunities and advantages that feature a renewable 
raw material rather than finite raw materials must also be exploited and 
emphasised.

	Transfer of the business model: 

	  Geographical transfer
	 The product innovations that have been successfully placed in the auto-

motive markets in particular are to be used to further extend the market 
leadership already achieved in Germany in the sector of cargo bay se-
curing systems for light commercial vehicles and to transfer this know-
how into other markets. The successes achieved in internationalisation 
in recent years are to be continued accordingly. In parallel, the product 
groups of the Technological Applications target market should be marketed 
worldwide. To do this, the Sales organisation will be further expanded and 
support provided for our customers’ globalisation efforts. 
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	  Transfer from the application perspective
	 The multitude of product developments over the past few years is an ex-

cellent basis for expansion to additional fields of application. In particular, 
development activity is currently focusing on the target markets of light 
commercial vehicles (LCV) in line with the “more revenue per vehicle” 
strategy and of the railway industry.    

	But the increasing globalisation of the companies and groups and the associ-
ated internationalisation are still also being recognised as a trend and driver. 
As a result, the Procurement organisation has higher standards regarding 
suppliers’ system competence. The good market position as a system sup-
plier in the automotive OEM business and also in the railway market is to 
be exploited in order to acquire additional serial supply orders. The aim is to 
take advantage of the existing process know-how and our good reputation 
on the market to achieve further market penetration, which in parallel should 
result in increased planning security.

	Finally, the raw material advantage of the most sustainable of all materials, 
namely wood, is to be exploited. The Delignit Group recognises the op-
portunity to take advantage of the market possibilities through increased 
emphasis on the ecological factors of “sustainability” and “cascade”.

	The growth strategy is based on diversification in niches on the basis of 
technological market leadership:

Fig. VIII: Strategic orientation of the Delignit Group 
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10. Non-financial performance indicators

Sustainability is a central entrepreneurial task. Because its main source of raw 
material is renewable wood, Delignit AG clearly fulfils both the ecological in-
terpretation of the term as well as the prospective protection of the resource 
base in an exemplary manner. To additionally reinforce the future viability of 
the company, work is constantly being done to improve its economic, ecolog-
ical and social performance:

	Innovations and new technologies are an essential component of the stra-
tegic evolution of the Group. Work on this is undertaken constantly as part 
of an existing continuous improvement process. 

	Employees are qualified through intensive training of young people, contin-
uing education in all Group areas, high standards of occupational health and 
safety and the targeted promotion of future managers.

	The Management Board has stipulated environmental and climate protec-
tion as an important corporate target. In addition to the PEFC standards, 
for example, which have already been implemented, there is an energy 
management system certified in accordance with ISO 50001 and an envi-
ronmental management system certified in accordance with ISO 14001.

11. �Events after the reporting period 2019 fiscal year

No events of particular importance occurred after the end of the reporting 
period which relate to the 2019 fiscal year.

12. �Summary of the report concerning relationships with affiliated 
companies in accordance with Section 312 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG)

For the legal transactions and measures listed in the report concerning the 
relationships with affiliated companies, in accordance with the circumstances 
known to us at the point in time, at which the legal transactions were exe-
cuted or the measures were implemented or omitted, the company received 
an appropriate consideration for each legal transaction, and the company has 
not been disadvantaged by the fact that these measures were implemented 
or omitted.  

13. Other information

The subscribed equity of €8,193,900.00 is divided into 8,193,900 no-par val-
ue bearer shares (shares without a nominal amount), each with a calculated 
share of €1.00 in the share capital of the company.
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The Supervisory Board determines the number of and appoints Management 
Board members, concludes their employment contracts and revokes the ap-
pointments. The Supervisory Board is also authorised to make amendments 
to the Articles of Association that relate only to wording.

According to the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 26 August 2015, 
the Management Board is authorised, by revoking the resolution on Agenda 
Item 5 of the Annual General Meeting of 17 August 2011, to increase the 
share capital of the company with the approval of the Supervisory Board on 
one or more occasions until 25 August 2020 by up to a total of €4,096,950.00 
in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions by issuing new no-par value 
bearer shares (Authorised Capital 2015).

In addition, the Annual General Meeting of 26 August 2015 authorised the 
Management Board, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to issue 
bearer and/or registered convertible bonds and/or warrant bonds with a total 
amount of up to €81,939,000.00 and a term of no longer than ten years until 
25 August 2020 and to grant the creditors of these bonds conversion rights 
to new no-par value bearer shares of Delignit AG with a pro rata share in the 
share capital of up to a total of €4,096,950.00, subject to the specific condi-
tions of the bonds (Contingent Capital 2015).   

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 4 June 2019, the company 
was authorised in accordance with Section 71 (1) no. 8 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG) to purchase and sell treasury shares in the period until 
3 June 2024 in accordance with the principle of equal treatment (Section 53 
a AktG) up to an amount of 10.0 % of the share capital at the date of this 
authorisation. The authorisation can be exercised in full or in part, and on one 
or more occasions. The purchase can also be carried out by dependent Group 
companies or by third parties on the company’s account. The authorisation 
may not be used for the purpose of trading in treasury shares.

14. Outlook

	General conditions

	 In the 2019 fiscal year, Delignit AG generated revenue growth of 6.8 % to 
€64,360 thousand, with an EBITDA margin (related to total operating perfor-
mance) of 7.1 %. As a result, the revenue guidance adjusted in August was 
achieved and the EBITDA margin was slightly exceeded at the upper end of 
the guidance range.

	 The statements in the following part of the guidance are based on the oper-
ating planning adopted by the Management Board and Supervisory Board of 
Delignit AG. The basis of this planning are the premises made on the general 
economic conditions and the development of key markets. The statements 
made below are based on the state of knowledge at the beginning of 2020.
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	Economic environment of the guidance section

	 The outlook for overall economic development in Europe in 2020 remains 
slightly positive. 

	 In its Winter 2020 Economic Forecast, the European Commission thus 
expected stable, but muted growth for the European economy. The euro 
area is now experiencing its longest phase of sustained growth since the 
euro was introduced in 1999. According to the Commission, gross domes-
tic product growth in the euro area will remain stable at 1.2  % in 2020 
and 2021. For Germany, the Commission anticipates 1.1 % growth in both 
years (source: Winter 2020 Economic Forecast from the European Com-
mission).   

	 The European Commission is anticipating a difficult external environment. 
But thanks to continued employment creation and robust wage growth, 
the European economy is likely to maintain a path of moderate growth. To-
gether with tentative signs of stabilisation in the manufacturing sector, and 
a possible bottoming out of the decline in global trade flows, the European 
economy should continue expanding (source: Winter 2020 Economic Fore-
cast from the European Commission).

	 For the Federal Republic of Germany, in its Annual Economic Report 2020 
the German government stated that at the start of the new year econom-
ic momentum was expected to remain moderate and that the economy 
would pick up slightly again. For 2020, the German government expects 
gross domestic product to grow by 1.1 % in price-adjusted terms. The un-
employment ratio is expected to remain at 5.0 %, but the level of employ-
ment was likely to achieve a new record high. The economic environment 
remained shaped by uncertainty. In 2020, global trade and industrial produc-
tion were again being held back by international trade conflicts, the Brexit 
and geopolitical risks. It was planned to increase the competitive situation 
and attraction of Germany as a business location, including primarily the 
improvement of the general tax situation (source: 2020 Annual Economic 
Report of the German government). 

	 Overall, at the beginning of the 2020 fiscal year Delignit AG sees good over-
all conditions for further dynamic growth.

	Guidance of the Delignit Group

	 Overall the market for commercial vehicles is assessed as robust. In this 
context and on the back of various new serial supply contracts, ongoing 
growth is expected for the Automotive target market in the 2020 fiscal year. 
The motor caravan order made a key contribution to the revenue upturn 
achieved in the last fiscal year and in 2020 is again expected to be major 
driver of further growth. 
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	 In the Technological Applications markets, Delignit AG expects revenue to 
increase again in the 2020 fiscal year, after the declines in both 2018 and 
2019. 

	 Subject to a stable economy in all Delignit AG markets, call-off volumes in 
line with OEM tender agreements, stable supply on procurement mar-
kets, development of the motor caravan order in line with planning and 
expenses from the virtual stock option programme for management as in 
the previous year, Delignit AG expects revenue in the 2020 fiscal year to 
exceed € 70 million and to achieve an EBITDA margin of over 8 %. 

	Events after the reporting date

	 The Group guidance was first published in a press release on 24 February. 
The subsequent escalation of the corona infections was not foreseen 
at this time. The 2020 guidance for the Delignit Group is subject to the 
consequences of an corona-induced impact which cannot be conclusively 
quantified.  

Blomberg, 12 March 2020

Markus Büscher
CEO

Thorsten Duray
CSO
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IFRS consolidated statement of financial position of Delignit AG
as at 31 December 2019

ASSETS

Notes 31/12/2019
€ thousand

31/12/2018
€ thousand

A. Current assets

1. Inventories III. 1. 15,157 10,302

2. Trade receivables III. 2. 1,800 5,281

3. Due from affiliated companies III. 3. 1 4

4. Other current receivables/assets III. 4. 850 3,625

5. Cash and cash equivalents III. 5. 1,499 298

Current assets 19,307 19,510

B. Non-current assets

1. Goodwill III. 6. 2,178 2,178

2. Other intangible assets III. 7. 1,369 1,240

3. Property, plant and equipment III. 8. 15,718 13,915

4. Other non-current financial 
assets III. 10. 1,283 1,201

5. Deferred tax assets III. 11. 294 281

Non-current assets 20,842 18,815

Assets, total 40,149 38,325
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Notes 31/12/2019
€ thousand

31/12/2018
€ thousand

A. Current liabilities

1. Other current provisions III. 12./14. 1,414 2,990

2. Current financial liabilities III. 13. 4,881 5,090

3. Trade liabilities III. 13. 4,145 4,312

4. Other current liabilities III. 15. 2,033 1,470

Current liabilities and provisions 12,473 13,862

B. Non-current liabilities

1. Provisions for pensions III.16. 1,220 1,192

2. Other non-current provisions III.12. 127 81

3. Deferred tax liabilities III.11. 1,037 1,106

4. Non-current financial liabilities III.13. 2,363 3,032

5. Other non-current liabilities III.15. 3,327 406

Non-current provisions and 
liabilities 8,074 5,817

C. Equity

1. Subscribed capital III. 17. 8,194 8,194

2. Capital reserves III. 18. 1,063 1,063

3. Revenue reserves III. 19. 3,000 0

4. �Amounts recognised directly in 
equity -601 -568

5. Result carried forward 6,547 7,385

6. Consolidated net income 1,399 2,572

Equity 19,602 18,646

Liabilities, total 40,149 38,325



Page 34 of 84

Notes
2019

€ thousand
2018

€ thousand

1. Revenue IV. 1. 64,360 60,273
2. Other operating income IV. 2. 1,228 281
3. Inventory changes 2,039 249
4. Cost of materials IV. 3. -40,585 -33,937
5. Staff costs IV. 4. -16,556 -16,330
6. �Depreciation of property, plant 

and equipment and amortisation 
of intangible assets 

IV. 5. -2,489 -1,615

7. Other operating expenses IV. 6. -5,669 -4,897

8. Earnings before interest 
and tax (EBIT) 2,328 4,024

9. Interest expenses IV. 7. -284 -182

10 Financial result -284 -182

11. Earnings before tax (EBT) 2,044 3,842

12. Income taxes IV. 8. -578 -1,244

13. Other taxes IV. 8. -67 -26

14. Consolidated net income 1,399 2,572

15. Earnings per share in € IV. 9. 0.17 0.31

16. Consolidated net income 1,399 2,572
17. Actuarial gains/losses from pension 

obligations II. 15. -33 -24

18. Other consolidated net income -33 -24

19. Total comprehensive income
including OCI 1,366 2,548

IFRS consolidated statement of comprehensive income of Delig-
nit AG for the fiscal year 2019
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Notes
2019

€ thousand
2018

€ thousand

20. Actuarial gains/losses from pension 
obligations 33 24

21. Total comprehensive income 
excluding OCI 1,399 2,572

22. Result carried forward 9,957 7,795

23. Allocation to retained earnings -3,000 0

24. Dividend payment -410 -410

25. Total comprehensive income 
including result carried forward 7,946 9,957
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2019
€ thou-

sand

2018
€ thou-

sand

1. Cash flow from operating activities
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 2,328 4,024
Depreciation on fixed assets 2,489 1,615
Decrease (-)/increase (+) in provisions -701 -214
Other non-cash income and expenses -101 -121
Subtotal 4,015 5,304
Change in working capital:

Decrease (+)/increase (-) in inventories, 
trade receivables and other assets 214 -5,183

Decrease (-)/increase (+) in trade liabilities 
and other liabilities 1,988 688
Subtotal 2,202 -4,495
Income tax payments -353 -1,054
Cash flow from operating activities 5,864 -245

2. Cash flow from investing activities
Investments (-) in intangible assets -294 -399
Investments (-) in property, plant and equipment -2,570 -2,643
Cash flow from investing activities -2,864 -3,042

3. Cash flow from financing activities
Payments for dividends -410 -410
Proceeds from the taking up financial loans 1,967 4,303
Payments for the repayment of financial loans -2,845 -1,152
Payments for the principal portion of the lease -227 0
Interest payments -284 -183
Investment subsidies received 0 85
Cash flow from financing activities 1,799 2,643

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 
(total of individual cash flows) 1,201 -644

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the reporting period 298 942
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 1,499 298

Composition of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 
and credit balances at financial institutions 1,499 298
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,499 298

IFRS consolidated statement of cash flows as at 31 December 2019
of Delignit AG, Blomberg



Page 38 of 84

Delignit AG, Blomberg
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for 2019

I. Methods and principles

Basic information concerning the accounting

1. Information concerning the company

Delignit AG, Blomberg, with registered office at Königswinkel 2-6, 32825 
Blomberg, Germany, is the parent company of the Delignit Group. It is 
registered in the Commercial Register of the Lemgo District Court under the 
number HRB 5952. Delignit AG is listed in the Scale Segment of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange under the securities number WKN A0MZ4B. The business 
activities of Delignit AG together with its subsidiaries include the production 
and sale of wood-based panels.

The IFRS consolidated financial statements (smallest consolidated group) as 
at 31 December 2019 are expected to be approved by the Supervisory Board 
of Delignit AG on 18 March 2020 and subsequently released for publication. 
The financial statements of Delignit AG will be included in the financial state-
ments of the parent company (largest consolidated group), MBB SE, Berlin, 
HRB 165458, Berlin District Court.

2. Accounting principles

Principles for preparing the financial statement 

The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2019 have been 
voluntarily prepared while exercising the option specified in Section 315e of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Stand-
ard Board (IASB) valid at the end of the reporting period and as applicable in 
the EU. The term IFRS also includes the International Accounting Standards 
(IAS), the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the interpre-
tations of the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), which are still valid. In 
addition, the requirements of Section 315a HGB have also been taken into 
account.

Delignit AG has taken into account all standards and interpretations that were 
mandatory as at 31 December 2019.

Application of new and amended standards

The following IAS/IFRS/IFRIC standards or amendments to these standards, 
which were required to be applied for the first time or voluntarily under EU 
law in fiscal year 2019, were recognised in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements of Delignit AG and applied to the consolidated financial 
statements, if they were relevant.
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The following amendments have been reviewed and, where mandatory, 
taken into account in the consolidated financial statements of Delignit AG:

The following must be applied from 1 January 2019:

Standard / Interpretation

Effective in 
the fiscal year

Endorsed by 
the EU Com-
mission

Impact

IFRS 16 Leases 2019 Yes
See 
notes 
below

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over In-
come Tax Treatments 2019 Yes None

IAS 28

Amendments - Clarifi-
cation of impairment 
of long-term interests 
in associates and joint 
ventures

2019 Yes None

IFRS 9

Minor amendment for 
financial assets with 
symmetrical termina-
tion rights

2019 Yes None

Annual Im-
provements 
2015-2017

Amendments to IFRS 
3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and 
IAS 23

2019 Yes None

IAS 19
Clarification on Plan 
Amendment, Curtail-
ment or Settlement

2019 Yes None

IFRS 16 Leases (IASB publication: 13 January 2016, EU endorsement: 
31 October 2017): The standard regulates accounting of leases. IFRS 16 
replaces the previously valid standard IAS 17 and three lease-related interpre-
tations. Application of IFRS 16 is mandatory for all IFRS users and applies to 
all leases. Exceptions are contracts for the exploration of minerals, oil, natural 
gas and similar non-regenerative resources; rights and license agreements 
for films, video recordings, plays, manuscripts, patents and copyrights that 
fall within the scope of IAS 38; lease agreements for biological assets within 
the scope of IAS 41; service agreements within the scope of IFRIC 12; and 
license agreements for intellectual property from a lease in the scope IFRS 15. 
Concerning the effects of the introduction of the standard, we refer to III. 9 of 
the Notes "Lease obligations".

For the 2019 fiscal year, there were no other standards adapted for the first 
time which has a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
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To be applied from 1 January 2020 or later:

Standard / Interpretation
Effective in 
the fiscal year

Endorsed by 
the EU Com-
mission Impact

Conceptual 
Framework1

Slightly amended 
definitions of assets 
and liabilities, and new 
guidance on measure-
ment and derecogni-
tion, presentation and 
disclosure

2020 Yes
See 
notes 
below

IFRS 3

Changes on deter-
mining whether a 
business or a group 
of assets has been 
acquired

2020 Yes None

IAS 18 Clarifications on the 
definition of material 2020 Yes None

IFRS 9, 
IAS 39, 
IFRS 7

Impact of the IBOR 
reform on financial 
reporting

2020 Yes None

IFRS 10/ 
IAS 28

Transactions with 
an associate or joint 
venture

2021 No None

IFRS 17

Accounting for insur-
ance contract replaces 
the previous transition 
standard IFRS 4

2021 Yes None

IAS 1
Clarification of classi-
fication of liabilities as 
current or non-current

2022 No None

IFRS 14
Recognising regulatory 
deferral accounts after 
transition to IFRS

n.n. No None

1 And amendments to References to the Conception Framework in the IFRS 
Standards with Amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, IAS 8, IAS 
34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22 and SIC 32
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3. Consolidation

Consolidated group

The consolidated financial statements include Delignit AG and the following 
subsidiaries and second-tier subsidiaries:

Blomberger Holzindustrie GmbH, Blomberg (100.0 %)

Hausmann Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Blomberg (100.0 %)

Delignit Immobiliengesellschaft mbH, Blomberg (100.0 %)

DHK automotive GmbH, Oberlungwitz (100.0 %)

Delignit North America Inc., Atlanta/Georgia, USA (100.0 %)

In the 2019 fiscal year, Blomberger Holzindustrie GmbH utilised the option 
provided for in Section 264 (3) HGB, not to apply the regulations in Part IV of 
Section 2 of Book III of HGB (Sections 325 to 329 HGB).

Moreover there are still direct investments in the Romanian companies 
de-consolidated in 2010 which are recognised at amortised cost.

S.C. Cildro Plywood S.R.L., Drobeta Turnu Severin, Romania (24.0 %), and

S.C. Cildro S.A., Drobeta Turnu Severin, Romania (17.9 %).

In addition, Delignit AG holds an indirect stake in the company via S.C. Cildro 
S.A. of 17.9 % of the shares in the S.C. Cildro Service S.R.L., Drobeta Turnu 
Severin, Romania, which was likewise deconsolidated in 2010.
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Consolidated group

The following subsidiaries were included in the consolidated financial state-
ments:

Name Registered 
office

Share 
in %

Equity
€

Earnings
€

Blomberger Holzindustrie 
GmbH Blomberg 100 3,563,945.95 0.00*

With its subsidiary 
Hausmann Verwaltungs-
gesellschaft mbH Blomberg 100 117,601.52 3,448.51

Delignit Immobilienge-
sellschaft mbH Blomberg 100 318,110.55 98,140.07

DHK automotive GmbH Oberlungwitz 100 2,800,494.86 597,241.54

Delignit North America Inc. Atlanta/Geor-
gia, USA 100 106,775.36 70,369.17

*The net earnings for the year were transferred to Delignit AG on the basis 
of the profit transfer agreement dated 5 April 2017. 

The investments in the following companies were included at equity in the 
consolidated financial statements:

Name Registered 
office

Share 
in %

Equity
RON

Result*
RON

S.C. Cildro Plywood S.R.L.
Drobeta Turnu
Severin, 
Romania

24.0 10,823,093.61 700,427.37

S.C. CILDRO S.A.
Drobeta Turnu
Severin, 
Romania

17.9 21,748,634.95 -22,255.94

With its subsidiary
S.C. Cildro Services S.R.L
.

Drobeta Turnu
Severin, 
Romania

100 1,828,437.59 718,000.07

*Preliminary, unaudited figures for the 2019 fiscal year
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Consolidation principles

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using uniform ac-
counting and measurement principles as also applied by the parent company 
for its financial statements. 

The balance sheet date of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements is 31 December of the respective calendar year.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date, on which control is ob-
tained, until the date on which control is no longer present.

Capital consolidation is executed using the purchase method in accordance 
with IFRS 3. In accordance with this method, the acquisition costs of the 
acquired shares are offset against the parent company's share of the equity 
of the acquired subsidiary at the acquisition date. All identifiable assets, lia-
bilities and contingent liabilities are recognised at fair value and included in 
the consolidated statement of financial position. Any excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the fair value of the net assets attributable to the Group is 
capitalised as goodwill. 

If the fair value of the net assets attributable to Delignit AG is higher than the 
acquisition cost of the shares, this results in a bargain purchase. If this bar-
gain purchase remains after another review of the purchase price allocation/
determination of the fair value of the acquired assets, liabilities and contin-
gent liabilities, it must be recognised in profit or loss immediately. 

Expenses, income, receivables and liabilities between the fully consolidated 
companies, as well as inter-company profits from intra-group goods and ser-
vices are eliminated. Deferred taxes for consolidation adjustments are recog-
nised in income.
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II.  Presentation of accounting and valuation methods

1. General

The statement of financial position was structured in accordance with cur-
rent and non-current assets and liabilities. The statement of comprehensive 
income is prepared in line with the nature of expense method for calculating 
the consolidated net profit for the period.

2. Reporting currency

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, since the ma-
jority of Group transactions are based on this currency. Unless otherwise in-
dicated, all values are rounded up or down to the nearest thousand euros 
(€  thousand). For mathematical reasons, rounding differences can occur in 
the figures and percentages shown. The amounts are given in euros (€) and 
thousand euros (€ thousand).

3. Foreign currency translation

Delignit North America Inc. calculates its supply business in euro, but to 
a minor extent services are bought locally in USD. The exchange rate on 
the balance sheet date was USD 0.8916. The average exchange rate was 
USD 0.8933.

The investment values of the companies deconsolidated in 2010 accounted 
for at amortised cost are not translated into euros. The exchange rate on 
the balance sheet date was RON 4.7793. The average exchange rate was 
RON 4.7509.

4. Intangible assets 

In accordance with IAS 38, intangible assets are recognised if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the 
company and the acquisition cost or manufacturing cost of the asset can be 
measured reliably. 

Intangible assets not acquired as part of a business combination are initially 
carried at cost. The acquisition cost of an intangible asset acquired in a busi-
ness combination is its fair value at the acquisition date.

For the purposes of subsequent measurement, intangible assets are recog-
nised at cost less cumulative amortisation and cumulative impairment losses 
(reported under amortisation). Intangible assets (not including goodwill) are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. The depre-
ciation period and the depreciation method are reviewed for appropriateness 
at the end of each fiscal year.



Page 45 of 84

With the exception of goodwill, the Group has no intangible assets with in-
definite useful lives.

Amounts paid for the purchase of industrial property rights and license rights 
are capitalised and subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
their anticipated useful lives.

The cost of acquisition of new software is capitalised and treated as an intan-
gible asset unless it forms an integral part of the associated hardware. Soft-
ware is depreciated on a straight-line basis over a period of up to 10 years.

Costs incurred in order to restore or maintain the future economic benefits 
that the company had originally expected are recognised as an expense.

Costs for research activities are charged as expenses in the period in which 
they are incurred. 

Costs for development activities for projects are capitalised as intangible as-
sets, if the following criteria are present cumulatively. The technical feasibility 
of completion of the project must be present. The intent and ability to com-
plete the intangible asset and to use it or sell it must be present. An intangi-
ble asset is capitalised if it is assumed that the intangible asset will probably 
generate future economic benefits. Moreover, Delignit AG must have the 
technical, financial and other resources to conclude the development tasks, 
and must be able to reliably determine the expenses directly attributable to 
the project. 

If the criteria are not met, development expenditure is recognised as expens-
es in the period in which it is incurred.

5. Goodwill 

Goodwill from business combinations is the residual amount of the excess 
of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
acquiree.

Goodwill is not subject to scheduled depreciation, but rather it is reviewed for 
impairment at least once a year in accordance with IAS 36 using an impair-
ment test and if necessary subjected to non-scheduled depreciation.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business com-
bination is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units, starting from the 
acquisition date. 
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6. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreci-
ation and accumulated impairment expenses. If items of property, plant and 
equipment are disposed of or scrapped, the corresponding cost and the cu-
mulative depreciation are derecognised. Any realised gain or loss from the 
disposal is reported in the statement of comprehensive income.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment consists of the purchase 
price and other non-refundable purchase taxes incurred in connection with 
the purchase as well as all directly attributable costs incurred to bring the 
asset to its location and to bring it to working condition for its intended use. 
Subsequent expenditure, such as servicing and maintenance costs, that is 
incurred after the non-current asset is put into operation is expensed in the 
period in which it is incurred. If it is probable that the expenditure will re-
sult in the entity receiving an additional future economic benefit in excess of 
the originally assessed earning power of the existing asset, the expenditure 
is capitalised as the subsequent acquisition cost of the property, plant and 
equipment.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful 
economic life, assuming a residual value of €0.00. 

The following estimated useful lives are used for the individual asset groups:

Buildings and exterior installations:		  10 to 25 years
Technical equipment and machinery:		  5 to 15 years
Computer hardware:		  3 years
Other office equipment:		  5 to 13 years

The useful life, the depreciation method for property, plant and equipment 
and the residual values are reviewed periodically.

The recoverability of property, plant and equipment items is reviewed regular-
ly, if necessary on the basis of cash-generating units. If necessary, appropri-
ate value adjustments are made in accordance with IAS 36. 

7. Accounting for leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based 
on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether 
the fulfilment of the contractual arrangement depends on the use of a specif-
ic asset or assets, and whether the arrangement conveys a right to use the 
asset.
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Delignit AG does not act as lessor.

The first-time application of IFRS 16 took place in accordance with the modi-
fied retrospective approach in line with the transitional provisions of the stand-
ard. According to this approach the comparative information is not restated. 
The effects were not material; there were no changes in retained earnings.

Assets under former finance leases, most of which transfer to Delignit AG all 
risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, are capitalised at the 
beginning of the lease term at the fair value of the lease asset or, if lower, at 
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term or the economic life of the leased as-
set, whichever is shorter. Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and the repayment of the lease liability, so as to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the residual carrying amount of the liability. The remaining 
lease payment obligations as at the end of the reporting period are reported 
separately in the statement of financial position according to their maturities. 
For these finance leases, the carrying amount of the right of use and the lease 
liability as at 1 January 2019 was recognized at the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and the lease liability in accordance with IAS 17 directly before 
this date. The impact on the statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019 
is described below:

01/01/2019
€ thousand

Assets from building leases 1,383
Assets from vehicle leases 101

16,330

Lease liabilities (current) 207
Lease liabilities (non-current) 1,277

1,484

Lease payments for leases with a duration of up to one year or for low-value 
assets, are recognised as expenses in the income statement over the lease 
term. Since 1 January 2019, in line with IFRS 16 non-current leases have been 
capitalised as assets and deprecated over the term of the lease. The present 
value from the lease payments is recognized as a discounted liability. Interest 
rates between 0.32 % and 1.52 % were used, depending on the remaining 
lease term. The interest rates were calculated on the basis of standard inter-
est rates for companies with a comparable rating, increased by a leasing risk 
premium. In line with IFRS 16, the Group thus accounts for rights of use and 
lease liabilities for more of these leases, i.e. these leases are recognised.
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8. Impairment of assets

No impairment losses occurred for non-current assets in the 2019 fiscal year.

9. Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred, unless 
they are incurred for the acquisition, construction or manufacture of qualifying 
assets. In this case, the borrowing costs are added to the cost of these as-
sets. Qualifying assets were neither acquired nor produced in the fiscal year.

10. Inventories

Inventories are carried at the value arising from acquisition costs or manu-
facturing costs and net realisable value (net realisable value less necessary 
selling expenses), whichever is lower. Raw materials, consumables, supplies 
and purchased goods are measured at cost using the average price method 
or, if lower, at their market prices at the end of the reporting period. The man-
ufacturing costs of work in progress and finished goods include not only the 
costs for production materials and wages but also pro rata material and pro-
duction overheads, assuming normal capacity utilisation. Appropriate write-
downs were recognised for inventory risks from storage periods and reduced 
usability.

11. Financial assets held as current assets 

Financial assets held as current assets consist of trade receivables and other 
receivables. Trade receivables are stated at the invoice amount minus a valu-
ation allowance based on creditworthiness. Trade receivables are subject to 
a value adjustment, if it is probable that the full amount of the original invoice 
cannot be collected. The amount of the value adjustment is equal to the nom-
inal value, less the recoverable amount, which corresponds to the present 
value of the anticipated cash inflows. The present value of the expected future 
cash flows is discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial 
asset. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by using an impair-
ment account, and the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

12. Other current receivables/assets

Other current assets are carried at their nominal value and, if they are subject 
to discernible risks, individual value adjustments are made.
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13. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents shown in the statement of financial position com-
prise cash in hand, bank balances and short-term deposits with an original 
term of less than three months.

Cash and cash equivalents in the IFRS consolidated cash flow statement are 
treated as accrued items in accordance with the definition cited above.

14. Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Delignit Group has a present obligation 
(statutory or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources constituting an economic benefit will be required to set-
tle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. If the Delignit Group expects at least a partial reimbursement for a 
provision carried as a liability, the reimbursement will be recognised as a sep-
arate asset if the inflow of the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 
arising from formation of the provision is shown in the income statement less 
the reimbursement.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date, adjusted to the current 
best estimate and always recognised at present value. If the corresponding 
interest effect is material, the amount of the provision is the present value 
of the expenditure anticipated to be required to settle the obligation. The 
increase in the provision reflecting the passage of time is recognised under 
borrowing costs. 

15. �Pensions and other post-employment benefits 

Pension obligations are measured in accordance with IAS 19. These pension 
commitments are regarded as defined benefit plan commitments and are 
therefore measured in line with actuarial principles using the projected unit 
credit method. Here a discount rate of 0.6 % (previous year: 1.4 %) was used.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in equity in each period as other 
comprehensive income (OCI). This has had the following effects:

€ thousand 31/12/2019
Change

2019 31/12/2018
Change

2018 31/12/2017

Actuarial gain (+)/loss (-) -858 -47 -811 -34 -777

Tax effect 257 14 243 10 233

Result to be recognised in OCI: -601 -33 -568 -24 -544
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16. Financial liabilities

Loans and other non-current liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, 
including transaction costs directly associated with the borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and non-current liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement, when the liabilities 
are derecognised and as part of the amortisation process.

Liabilities from finance leases are recognised at the present value of the min-
imum lease payments.

Current financial liabilities are recognised at repayment or settlement amount; 
non-current financial liabilities are recognised at discounted amounts. 

17. Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits asso-
ciated with the transaction will flow to the Delignit Group and the amount of 
revenue can be reliably determined. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or that will be received less discounts and rebates 
granted, as well as value-added tax or other levies. Moreover, revenue recog-
nition requires the fulfilment of the following recognition criteria:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods and products sold has tran-
sitioned to the buyer. As a rule, this occurs when the goods are delivered.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised, as soon as interest accrues, using the effec-
tive interest rate, i.e. the rate that is used to discount the estimated future 
cash inflows to the net carrying amount of the financial asset over the expect-
ed life of the financial instrument.
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18. Taxes

Current income taxes

The actual tax receivables and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from, or paid to the tax 
authority. The calculation is based on tax rates and tax laws applicable at the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are recognised using the liability method on temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the balance 
sheet and their tax bases at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, 
except for deferred tax liabilities arising from the initial recognition of goodwill 
or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the commercial result for the 
period nor the taxable result.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax loss carry-forwards and unused tax credits, if it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available, against which the deductible temporary differ-
ences and the unused tax loss carry-forwards and tax credits can be used. Ex-
ceptions are deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differenc-
es that occur from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the commercial result for the period nor the taxable result.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is tested at the end of each re-
porting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that a 
sufficient taxable result will be available against which the deferred tax asset 
can be at least partly utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are tested 
at the end of each reporting period and recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that taxable result in future will allow the realisation of de-
ferred tax assets.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates expected to 
apply in the period, in which an asset is recognised or the liability is settled. 
This is based on the tax rates and tax laws applicable at the balance sheet 
date. Future changes in the tax rates must be taken into account at the end of 
the reporting period if material conditions for validity in a legislative process 
are fulfilled. 

Deferred taxes are reported as tax income or tax expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income unless they relate to items reported directly in equity, 
in which case the deferred taxes are also reported in equity.

19. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities are either possible obligations that can result in an out-
flow of resources or current obligations that do not meet the recognition 
criteria for a liability. They are specified separately in the notes, unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is highly 
improbable. Apart from the liability relationships, there are no contingent lia-
bilities.

In the context of business combinations, contingent liabilities are recognised 
in accordance with IFRS 3.37 if their fair value can be reliably determined. 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial statements. However, 
they are specified in the notes if the inflow of economic benefits is probable.

20. Material judgements, estimates and assumptions

For the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS, estimates and assumptions must occasionally be made. These 
influence the amounts of assets, liabilities and financial obligations calculated 
as at the end of the reporting period and the reporting of expenses and in-
come. The actual amounts can differ from these estimates.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estima-
tion uncertainty at the end of the reporting period resulting in a considerable 
risk that a major adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
will be required within the next financial year are explained below.



Page 53 of 84

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there are any indica-
tions of impairment of non-financial assets. Goodwill is tested for impairment 
at least once a year and whenever there are indications of impairment. Other 
non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indications that 
the carrying amount is higher than the recoverable amount. To determine 
value in use, management estimates the expected future cash flows from 
the asset or cash-generating unit and selects an appropriate discount rate to 
determine the present value of these cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax loss carry-forwards and 
for deferred tax assets on temporary differences, if it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available, against which the unused tax loss carry-forwards can 
actually be utilised. In calculating the amount of deferred tax assets, manage-
ment must make material judgements with regard to the expected timing and 
amount of future taxable income and the future tax planning strategies. 

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

The expense from defined benefit plans post-employment is determined us-
ing actuarial calculations. Actuarial valuation is based on assumptions con-
cerning discount rates, expected earnings on plan assets, future wage and 
salary increases, mortality and future pension increases. In line with the long-
term orientation of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant un-
certainty.  

Provisions

Other provisions are recognised and measured on the basis of an assessment 
of the probability of a future outflow of benefits, using values based on experi-
ence and circumstances known at the end of the reporting period. The actual 
obligation can differ from the amounts recognised as provisions.
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III. �Notes to the consolidated statement of financial position

Current assets

1. Inventories

Inventories break down as follows:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

€ thousand € thousand

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 7,156 4,637

Unfinished products 3,741 2,528

Finished products 4,260 3,137

15,157 10,302

In the fiscal year, as in the previous year, appropriate write-downs were 
recognised for inventories. There were no reversals of impairment losses in 
the reporting period or in the previous period. 

2. Trade receivables

Trade receivables are all due within one year. Trade receivables are written 
down for impairment as necessary.

Trade receivables developed as follows:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

€ thousand € thousand

Trade receivables 2,218 5,695

less specific valuation allowances -416 -409

less adjustment in accordance with IFRS 9 -2 -5

1,800 5,281

In line with the principle of prudence, specific valuation allowances were es-
tablished for receivables not yet realised.

There was no significant concentration of credit risk at the balance sheet date.
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3. Due from affiliated companies

There are receivables from related parties of €1  thousand (previous year: 
€4 thousand) from OBO Werke GmbH.

4. Other current receivables/assets

Other current receivables/assets break down as follows:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

€ thousand € thousand

Receivable from taxes 456 1,243

Receivable from factoring 100 2,249

Transitory accruals and deferrals 64 41

Refund claims – energy tax 62 39

Miscellaneous other assets 168 53

850 3,625

The decrease in current receivables/assets is mainly due to the reduction of fac-
toring receivables not yet purchased and to refund claims for tax prepayments.

5. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to €1,499 thousand consist primarily of 
balances at banks for accounts available on call and cash in hand.

Non-current assets

The development of goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and 
equipment and other non-current financial assets are shown in the appended 
statement of changes in non-current assets.
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6. Goodwill

The goodwill reported as at the balance sheet date in the amount of 
€2,178 thousand results from consolidating the acquisition of the shares in 
Blomberger Holzindustrie GmbH.

For the purposes of the impairment test, goodwill was allocated to the Ply-
wood cash-generating unit (CGU). 

The impairment tests to determine the recoverable amount were based on 
the value in use of the CGU, the calculations of which were based on fore-
cast earnings derived from a five-year plan approved by the Management 
Board. Current and future probabilities, empirical values, expected economic 
developments and other circumstances were taken into account when deter-
mining the target figures. For the standard year (perpetual annuity) the target 
figures of the last planning year were used. 5.6 % was used as the discount 
rate (previous year: 11.0 %). As a precautionary measure, possible growth in 
the standard year was not taken into account. The discount rate was calculat-
ed using the weighted capital costs of listed companies and on the basis of 
standard interest rates for German government bonds and European industri-
al bonds. A market risk premium was included in the interest rate. The change 
of the discount rate compared with the previous year is mainly due to a lower 
beta factor of the peer group. 

The impairment test performed did not result in impairment of the cash-gen-
erating unit. From the Management Board's perspective, reasonably conceiv-
able changes in the basic assumptions do not result in the carrying amount 
exceeding the achievable amount of the CGU.

7. Other intangible assets

Intangible assets essentially consist of capitalised development costs, pur-
chased software, industrial property rights and patents. They are measured 
at historical acquisition costs less scheduled depreciation or the lower fair val-
ue. For the scheduled depreciation, industrial property rights acquired against 
payment are depreciated over three to ten years.

8. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of land and buildings acquired against 
payment, machines, plant and machinery, factory and office equipment, ad-
vance payments made and assets under construction. Depreciable property, 
plant and equipment are carried at the lower of fair value and amortised cost. 
Depreciable fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives.  



Page 57 of 84

9. Lease obligations

Leases relate to various motor vehicles for the management and the sales 
force. The leases have an average term of three to five years. There are no 
renewal or purchase options at the end of the rental period. 

The obligations arising from rental agreements relate to rented production 
halls in Oberlungwitz. For the DHK automotive GmbH site in Oberlungwitz, 
a ten-year lease until 30 September 2026 was signed for commercial space.

In the 2019 fiscal year, in line with IFRS 16 which was effective from 
1 January 2019, for the first time a right of use asset and a financial liabil-
ity for lease payments were recognized for all Group leases. Exceptions to 
this rule are short-term and low-value leases. From the Group's point of 
view, all contracts with a term of less than twelve months are classified 
as short-term leasing contracts. All leases with an acquisition cost of less 
than €5 thousand are classified as low-value lease contracts; each asset is 
valued individually, even if a lease consists of several independently usable 
assets.  

31/12/2019
€ thousand

Assets from building leases 1,204
Assets from vehicle leases 125

1,329

Lease liabilities (current) 227
Lease liabilities (non-current) 1,112

1,339

Depreciation in fiscal year 227
Interest expense in fiscal year 21

248

10. Other non-current financial assets

Other non-current assets relate to advance payments to two OEM customers 
for non-current supply contracts. The financial assets will be recognised as 
expenses over the term of the contracts, based on the agreed supply vol-
umes. In fiscal 2019, for external development contracts alone, costs were 
incurred amounting to €82 thousand.
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11. Deferred taxes

The deferred tax assets and liabilities by balance sheet item as at 
31 December 2019 are shown in the table below:

31/12/2019
€ thousand

Asset

31/12/2019
€ thousand

Liability

Deferred taxes due to temporary differences

- Provisions for pensions/semi-retirement 289 0

- Other provisions 0 77

- Valuation allowances 0 6

- Fixed assets 5 954

294 1,037

The deferred tax assets and liabilities by balance sheet item as at 31 December 2018 
are shown in the table below:

31/12/2018
€ thousand

Asset

31/12/2018
€ thousand

Liability

Deferred taxes due to temporary differences

- Provisions for pensions/semi-retirement 278 0

- Other provisions 3 117

- Valuation allowances 0 21

- Fixed assets 0 968

281 1,106
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12. Provisions 

Current and non-current provisions developed as follows:

As at
01/01/2019
€ thousand

Utilisation
€ thousand

Allocation
€ thousand

As at
31/12/2019
€ thousand

Non-current provisions

Anniversaries 19 3 0 16

Semi-retirement programmes 62 33 82 111

81 36 82 127

Provisions for taxes 
(current provisions)

Trade tax 654 560 112 206

Corporation tax 410 408 130 132

Other 79 75 0 4

1,143 1,044 243 342

1,224 1,080 325 469

As at
01/01/2018
€ thousand

Utilisation
€ thousand

Allocation
€ thousand

As at
31/12/2018
€ thousand

Non-current provisions

Anniversaries 19 2 2 19

Semi-retirement programmes 0 0 62 62

19 2 64 81

Provisions for taxes 
(current provisions)

Trade tax 468 310 496 654

Corporation tax 361 381 430 410

Other 10 10 79 79

839 701 1,005 1,143

858 703 1,069 1,224

The anniversary provision is formed for legally committed employee benefits. 
After 10, 25, 30, 40 or 50 years with the company, employees are entitled to 
a monetary benefit. 

There were no contingent liabilities as at the statement of financial position 
date.
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13. Liabilities

The liabilities have the following maturities:

Up to one 
year

€ thou-
sand

More 
than one 
and up 
to five 
years

€ thou-
sand

Over 
five 

years
€ thou-

sand

Total
€ thou-

sand
Liabilities to banks 4,881 2,085 278 7,244

Trade liabilities 4,145 0 0 4,145

Provisions with a liability nature 1,072 0 0 1,072

Other liabilities 2,033 2,778 549 5,360

As at 31 December 2019 12,131 4,863 827 17,821

The tax provisions amounting to €342  thousand and the provisions with a 
liability character are totalled in the IFRS consolidated statement of financial 
position under the item "Other current provisions".

Up to one 
year

€ thou-
sand

More 
than one 
and up 
to five 
years

€ thou-
sand

Over 
five 

years
€ thou-

sand

Total
€ thou-

sand
Liabilities to banks 5,090 2,375 657 8,122

Trade liabilities 4,312 0 0 4,312

Provisions with a liability nature 1,847 0 0 1,847

Other liabilities 1,470 220 186 1,876

As at 31 December 2018 12,719 2,595 843 16,157

Liabilities to banks are stated at interest rates of between 0.7 % and 3.3 % 
(previous year: 1.0  % and 4.5  %). Land and buildings, machinery and in-
ventories were pledged as collateral. As at the reporting date, the carrying 
amount value of the pledged assets was €9,066  thousand (previous year: 
€6,520 thousand).
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14. Provision with a liability nature

The current provisions with a liability nature consist of the following:

31/12/2019
€ thousand

 31/12/2018
€ thousand 

   

Outstanding invoices 367  330

Uncertain liabilities 252  768

Wages and salaries 186  275

Holiday entitlements 139  250

Costs for financial statements and audits 83  106

Bonuses 45  45

Other provisions 0  73

 1,072 1,847

Provisions for uncertain liabilities include provisions for the virtual stock option 
program for management in line with IFRS 2 amounting to €37  thousand 
(previous year: €349 thousand). In addition, €300 thousand were recognised 
under other current liabilities from wages and salaries (cf. Note 15).

15. Other liabilities 

The disclosure of current and non-current liabilities includes the following:

31/12/2019
€ thousand

 31/12/2018
€ thousand 

Current    

Wages and salaries 875  466

Lease liabilities 673 90

Payroll tax 373  323

Other debtors 105  420

VAT 0 66

Other 7  105

 2,033 1,470
    
Non-current    

Lease liabilities 3,157 220

Provident fund 170  186

 3,327 406

5,360 1,876
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Liabilities from wages and salaries include €300  thousand from the virtu-
al stock option programme for managers. This figure resulted from realising 
50,000 shares of the 120,000 shares which could have been exercised as 
at 31 December 2019. The price was fixed in July 2019, while the payment 
was made only in January 2020. Thus this position was recognised not as a 
provision but as other liabilities.

16. Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

There is a company pension plan for former limited partners and managing 
directors of Blomberger Holzindustrie GmbH.
	

31/12/2019
€ thousand

31/12/2018
€ thousand

Pension provisions at the beginning of the 
fiscal year 1,192 1,365

- Utilisation -116 -144

+ Addition to provisions 17 18
-/+ Actuarial gains / losses 127 -47
Pension provisions 
at the end of the fiscal year 1,220 1,192

The following actuarial assumptions have been used:

31/12/2019
%

31/12/2018
%

Interest rate 0.60 1.40

Pension trend 2.00 2.00

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis for pension obligations shows the extent to which 
changes, e.g. in interest rates or pension increases, affect the pension obli-
gation:

At an interest rate of 1.1 % and a pension increase of 2.0 percentage points, 
the obligation amounts to €1,180 thousand, i.e. if the interest rate is changed 
by one-half of a percentage point, the obligation changes by €40 thousand.

At an interest rate of 0.6 % and a pension increase of 1.5 percentage points, 
the obligation amounts to €1,180  thousand, i.e. if the pension increase is 
changed by half a percentage point, the obligation changes by €40 thousand.

The liabilities are appropriate for the obligation (DBO). The benefit plans are 
not funded.



Page 63 of 84

Publication of the amendments to IAS 19 by the IASB has had an impact on 
the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension plans in the 
consolidated financial statements. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
directly in equity in other comprehensive income (OCI) (below also pension 
reserve). €568 thousand of the pension reserve was carried forward so that 
the pension reserve developed as follows:

Pension reserve 31 Dec. 2018:	 €568 thousand
Actuarial loss	 €47 thousand
Deferred taxes:	  €-14 thousand

Pension reserve 31 Dec. 2019:	 €601 thousand

The expected pension payments from the pension plans for 2020 amount to 
€111 thousand.

There is also a provident fund. The pension scheme was closed on 30 May 1994. 
The corresponding obligations are reported under other non-current liabilities.

17. Equity

Subscribed capital

The share capital of Delignit AG is reported as subscribed capital. The sub-
scribed equity of €8,193,900.00 is divided into 8,193,900 no-par value bearer 
shares (shares without a nominal amount), each with a calculated share of 
€1.00 in the share capital of the company.

According to the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 26 August 2015, 
the Management Board is authorised, by revoking the resolution on Agenda 
Item 5 of the General Meeting of 17 August 2011, to increase the share capi-
tal of the company with the approval of the Supervisory Board on one or more 
occasions until 25 August 2020 by up to a total of €4,096,950.00 in exchange 
for cash or non-cash contributions by issuing new no-par value bearer shares 
(Authorised Capital 2015).

In addition, the General Meeting of 26 August 2015 authorised the Manage-
ment Board, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to issue bear-
er and/or registered convertible bonds and/or warrant bonds with a total 
amount of up to €81,939,000.00 and a term of no longer than ten years 
until 25 August 2020 and to grant the creditors of these bonds conversion 
rights to new no-par value bearer shares of Delignit AG with a pro rata share 
in the share capital of up to a total of €4,096,950.00, subject to the specific 
conditions of the bonds (Contingent Capital 2015). 
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By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 4 June 2019, the company was 
authorised in accordance with Section 71 (1) no. 8 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act (AktG) to purchase and sell treasury shares in the period until 3 June 2024 
in accordance with the principle of equal treatment (Section 53 a AktG) up to an 
amount of 10.0 % of the share capital at the date of this authorisation. The 
authorisation can be exercised in full or in part, and on one or more occasions. 
The purchase can also be carried out by dependent Group companies or by 
third parties on the company’s account. The authorisation may not be used 
for the purpose of trading in treasury shares.

Please see "IFRS consolidated statement of changes in equity as at 
31 December 2019” for information on the development of equity. 

The shares are held as follows:

MBB SE:	 76.1 %
Free float:	 23.9 %

18. Capital reserve

The capital reserve includes the net proceeds from the capital increase car-
ried out on 26 September 2007 as part of the first listing in the Entry Stand-
ard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in the amount of €5,250 thousand. The 
IPO costs of €442  thousand were offset against the capital reserve. In 
addition, the capital reserve includes the share premium from the acquisition 
of 18.3 % of the limited partner's shares in Blomberger Holzindustrie GmbH 
(before conversion on 18 February 2015 Blomberger Holzindustrie B. Haus-
mann GmbH & Co. KG) in the amount of €2,516 thousand. With the capital 
increase resolved on 8 November 2010, proceeds from the issue exceeding 
the share capital in the amount of €198 thousand, less the expenses for the 
capital increase of €41  thousand, were transferred to the capital reserve. 

By resolution of the Management Board of 28 October 2011, the accumulated 
loss as at 31 December 2010 was offset against the capital reserve in the 
financial statements as at 31 December 2011. 

19. Retained earnings

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 4 June 2019, €3,000,000.00  of 
the net retained profits as at 31 December 2018 was transferred to retained 
earnings.
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IV.  Notes to the profit and loss account

1. Revenue

Revenue is distributed among the following regions:

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Germany 29,680 33,945
EU 29,361 23,448
Other 5,318 2,880

64,360 60,273

In percentage terms, this results in the following breakdown of revenue 
by region:

2019 2018

Germany 46.1 % 56.3 %
EU 45.6 % 38.9 %
Other 8.3 % 4.8 %

100.0 % 100.0 %

The Delignit Group generates revenue of more than 10.0 % of total Group 
revenue, with a total of two OEM groups, with deliveries and invoicing to 
different Group companies. The revenue results from different products 
and model series within the OEM groups. Revenue with these two groups 
reached 35.1 % for the largest OEM customer (previous year: 33.3 %) and 
with the second largest OEM customer 30.6 % (previous year: 28.8 %).

Recognition of revenue in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 15 was ex-
amined. The Delignit Group generally does not manufacture products tailored 
to a specific customer, in such a manner that these products can be used 
exclusively for that customer. 

However, as at the reporting date, there was a specific call-off obligations of 
special products of an OEM customer. However, as there was no complete 
delivery volume which could be called off as at the reporting date, from com-
pleted but not yet delivered products the Delignit Group did not realise any 
revenue over time in line with IFRS 15.
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2. Other operating income 

Other operating income breaks down as follows:

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Income from previous fiscal years 633 53
Income from the reversal of provisions 
with a liability nature 296 6

Income from investment grants 
and allowances 121 31

Income from the reversal of value adjustments 1 94
Income from bonus agreements 0 36
Income from cost allocations 76 29
Other income 101 32

1,228 281

3. Cost of materials

The cost of materials breaks down as follows:

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Expenses for raw materials 24,766 21,480
Expenses for trade goods 6,179 4,525
Freight costs 3,399 2,619
Purchased services 2,778 2,451
Other material and energy 3,463 2,862

40,585 33,937

4. Staff costs

Staff costs break down as follows:

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Wages and salaries 13,535 13,839
Social security contributions and 
expenses for pensions 3,021 2,481

Other personnel costs 0 10
16,556 16,330

The expenses for wages and salaries include allocations to provisions and uti-
lisation from the virtual stock option programme for management amounting 
to €-12 thousand (previous year: €1,240 thousand). With regard to details, we 
refer to the comments concerning the remuneration of the Management Board 
in Section VII (Other mandatory disclosures).
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5. �Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of 
intangible assets

Depreciation and amortisation break down as follows:

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,324 1,405
Amortisation of intangible assets 165 210

2,489 1,615

As in the previous year, no value adjustments from impairments or write-ups 
of assets in accordance with IAS 36 were made in 2019.

6. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses break down as follows:

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Maintenance expenses 2,458 1,839
Purchased services 549 270
Administrative expenses 400 338
Legal and consulting 354 349
Insurance 337 172
Research and development costs 195 164
Travel expenses/vehicle expenses 178 229
Rent, leasehold, lease 139 250
IT costs 103 106
Allocation to value adjustments 84 315
Fees and contributions 73 54
Incidental expenses for monetary transactions 52 85
Advertising expenses 47 175
Telephone, postage, remote data transmission 41 53
Other 659 498

5,669 4,897

7. Interest expenses

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Bank interest 236 127
Other interest 48 55

284 182
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8. Taxes

Taxes break down as follows:

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Income taxes 578 1,244
Other taxes 67 26

645 1,270

Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities are provided in the previous 
section. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of a standard tax rate of 
30.0 % for the Group companies.

Offsetting and reconciliation between income tax expense and the product of 
the statement of financial position result for the period and the applicable tax 
rate for the Group for the 2019 and 2018 fiscal years, are as follows:

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Earnings before income taxes 2,044 3,842
Theoretical income tax expense (30.0 %) -613 -1,153
Tax additions/reductions 35 -91

-578 -1,244

9. Earnings per share 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

2019 2018

Net income attributable to the holders of 
ordinary shares of the parent company €1,399,000 €2,572,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used to calculate earnings per share 8,193,900 8,193,900

Earnings per share         €0.17         €0.31
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V. IFRS consolidated cash flow statement

Notes to the IFRS consolidated cash flow statement

The IFRS consolidated cash flow statement shows how liquid assets of the 
Delignit Group changed in the fiscal year as a result of cash inflows and out-
flows. In accordance with IAS 7, a distinction is made between cash flows 
from the ongoing operating, investing and financing activities. 

The net financial position considered in the IFRS consolidated cash flow state-
ment includes all liquid assets reported in the statement of financial position, 
credit balances at banks, if these credit balances are available within three 
months (calculated from the date of acquisition) without significant fluctua-
tions in value. Cash flows from investing and financing activities are deter-
mined directly, i.e. on the basis of payment. Cash flow from operating activi-
ties, on the other hand, is derived indirectly from the earnings for the period.

As in the previous year, the Group did not carry out any non-cash investment 
and financing activities during the fiscal year. 

VI. Objectives and methods of financial risk management

1. Financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities mainly include current and non-current lia-
bilities to banks, current trade payables and other current and non-current 
liabilities. The material financial assets of the Group consist of liquid assets, 
trade receivables and other receivables. The carrying amount of the finan-
cial assets recognised in the consolidated financial statements less impairment 
constitutes the maximum default risk. It amounts to a total of €3,934 thousand 
(previous year: €10,111 thousand). Business relationships are only entered 
into with partners of good credit standing. Available financial information and 
our own trading records are used to assess the creditworthiness of major 
customers, in particular. Trade receivables are due from a number of cus-
tomers distributed over different industries and regions. Ongoing credit as-
sessments are performed for the financial receivables portfolio. Payment 
terms of 30 days without deduction are usually granted. Impairment was 
not recognised for trade receivables that were past due at the end of the 
reporting period if no material changes in the customer’s creditworthiness 
were observed and it is assumed that the outstanding amount will be paid. 
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With regard to the maturities of financial liabilities, we refer to our comments 
under Section III. 13. "Liabilities".

Valuation of the Delignit Group's financial assets and liabilities is presented 
under II. 11 "Financial assets held as current assets" and II. 16 "Financial 
liabilities" in the notes to the general accounting policies.

The Group does not exercise the fair value option. On the current balance 
sheet date or the last balance sheet date, the Group has neither financial 
assets that were held for trading nor financial assets or liabilities measured 
at fair value through profit or loss. Derivatives and hedging transactions were 
not entered into. 

No reclassification was made in 2019 or 2018. 

2. Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital (equity plus liabilities less cash and cash equiv-
alents) with the aim of achieving its growth targets through financial flexibility, 
while at the same time optimising financing costs. The overall strategy in 
this regard is unchanged compared to the previous year. Management re-
views the capital structure at least once every half-year. The cost of capital, 
the collateral provided, open lines of credit and available credit facilities are 
reviewed. The Group is not subject to any externally regulated capital require-
ments.

3. Financial risk management

Financial risk is monitored centrally by management. The individual financial 
risks are reviewed at least four times per year.

The material Group risks arising from financial instruments include market, 
liquidity and credit risks. The credit risk is controlled by the fact that business 
relationships are only entered into with creditworthy contractual partners. 
Moreover, assessments by independent rating agencies, other available fi-
nancial information and our own trading records are used to assess creditwor-
thiness, in particular the creditworthiness of major customers. Credit risks are 
controlled via limits per contractual partner, which are reviewed and approved 
annually. In addition, the amounts of receivables are monitored on an ongoing 
basis, so that the Delignit Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 
The maximum default risk is limited to the respective carrying amounts of the 
assets reported in the statement of financial position.
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The Group manages liquidity risks by maintaining appropriate reserves, credit 
lines with banks and monitoring and maintaining loan agreements. Cash flows 
are carefully planned and actual and forecast cash inflows and outflows are 
reconciled. Management expects the Group to be able to meet its other 
financial obligations from operating cash flows and from the inflow of 
maturing financial assets.

4. Market risks

Market risks can result from changes in exchange rates (exchange rate risks) 
or interest rates (interest rate risks). Due to the minimal relevance of ex-
change rate risks for the Group, exchange rate risks were not hedged through 
derivative financial instruments. These risks are controlled through continu-
ous monitoring. Exchange rate risks are largely avoided by the fact that the 
Group mainly invoices in euros or local currency.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks as a result of borrowing at float-
ing interest rates. The Delignit Group manages these risks by maintaining an 
appropriate ratio between fixed and floating interest rate agreements. De-
rivatives (e.g. interest rate swaps or forward interest rate agreements) are 
not used to hedge the exposure. As at the balance sheet date, there were 
variable-interest liabilities amounting to €4,213  thousand (previous year: 
€4,402  thousand). If, all else being equal and assuming corresponding av-
erage indebtedness, interest rates had been two percentage points higher 
(lower), earnings before tax would have been €84.0 thousand lower (higher).

5. Fair value risk 

The financial instruments of the Delignit Group that are not carried at fair 
value are primarily cash, trade receivables, other current assets, liabilities to 
banks, trade payables and other liabilities.

The carrying amount of cash is extremely close to fair value on account of the 
short terms of these financial instruments. For receivables and liabilities with 
normal credit conditions, the carrying amount based on historical cost is also 
extremely close to fair value.
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VII. Other required information

1. Other required information

Management Board

The following persons were members of the Management Board of Delignit 
AG in fiscal year 2019:

 �Markus Büscher, business economist, CEO 
	 (Strategic Development, Controlling, Human Resources, 
	 Legal, Purchasing, IT, Production, R&D, Investor Relations)

 �Thorsten Duray, industrial manager, member of the Management Board 
	 (Marketing and Sales)

Supervisory Board

The following persons were members of the Supervisory Board of Delignit 
AG in the 2019 fiscal year: 

 Dr Christof Nesemeier, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Delignit AG 
	 (also: member of the Board and Managing Director (CEO) of MBB SE, 

Berlin, and a member of the Supervisory Board of Aumann AG)

 �Gert-Maria Freimuth, Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
	 (also: Chairman of the Board of MBB SE, Berlin, Chairman of the Supervi-

sory Board of DTS IT AG, Herford, and Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
of Aumann AG, Beelen)

 �Anton Breitkopf 
	 (also: member of the Board of MBB SE, Berlin, and 
	 Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of DTS IT AG, Herford)

2. Remuneration of the Management Board 

The remuneration of the Management Board consists of a fixed and a var-
iable component. The Management Board also receives reimbursement of 
expenses against receipt. In addition, the Management Board is also insured 
via a Group D&O insurance policy with a deductible and an accident insur-
ance policy, and the Management Board receives a subsidy for private health 
insurance and long-term care insurance. Moreover each member of the Man-
agement Board also uses a company car. The members of the Management 
Board also receive continued pay in the event of illness for up to six weeks. 
No other benefits (e.g. pension entitlements, direct commitments or sever-
ance payments) have been agreed. 
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From the virtual stock option programme of the 2013 Management Board 
contracts for the 2013 fiscal year, all shares from Stock Option Programme I 
(Management Board contracts 2013) were allocated and vested in the 2018 
fiscal year. In July 2019, the price of 50,000 shares was fixed, resulting in 
a realisation price of €7.3069 per share. In Stock Option Programme I, the 
starting price per share was set at €1.30. The Supervisory Board determined 
that the calculation was correct and that the shares were vested, and thus 
approved the payment of a total of €300,345.00. The payment was made 
at the beginning of 2020. As at 31 December 2019, this obligation was rec-
ognized under other current liabilities. At the end of 2019, there is a remain-
ing entitlement from Stock Option Program I (Management Board contracts 
2013) of 10,000 shares (starting price of €1.30) and a pro rata entitlement 
from Stock Option Program II (Management Board contracts 2017) of an ad-
ditional 75,000 shares (starting price of €5.82). The relevant exercise price 
as at 31 December 2019 was set at €5.0208 a share. As at 31 December 
2019, the fair value of all virtual stock options in line with IFRS 2 thus totalled 
€337,553.47.

After deduction of the amounts already reported in the previous year based on 
the relevant exercise price of €6.8585 per share, there was thus a cumulative 
reduction of provisions/liabilities for Stock Option Program I and Stock Option 
Program II of €11,532.12 from the provision of €349,085.59 established 
and recognised as at 31 December 2018. This corresponds to cumulative 
income from the claims from the stock option programmes in the 2019 fiscal 
year after expenses of €1,239,885.59 in the previous year. The provision for 
the remaining options of the two Management Board members is recognised 
under provisions for uncertain liabilities.

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

Fixed salary 380 329
Financial year bonus 100 168
Virtual stock option program -12 1,240
Total remuneration of the Management Board 468 1,737

3. Related party transactions

a) Related parties

Delignit AG is a dependent company as defined in Section 17 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act. The controlling company is MBB SE, Berlin. A con-
trolling agreement does not exist.

Subsidiaries are considered to be related companies irrespective of whether 
they are included in the consolidated financial statements or not. Transactions 
between the company and its subsidiaries are eliminated in consolidation and 
are not shown in this note, or are of subordinate significance and typical for 
the industry. 
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b) Management Board

Reference is made to the comments concerning the remuneration of the 
Management Board. Other than the remuneration cited above no business 
was transacted with the Delignit Group.

c) Members of the Supervisory Board of Delignit AG

In the 2019 fiscal year, the members of the Supervisory Board received fixed 
remuneration of €45 thousand. The fixed remuneration is distributed among 
the members as follows:

 ���Chairman, Dr Christof Nesemeier, €20 thousand
 ���Deputy Chairman, Mr Gert-Maria Freimuth, €15 thousand
 ���Member, Mr Anton Breitkopf, €10 thousand

4. Number of employees

The average number of employees during the 2019 fiscal year was as follows:

2019 2018

Employees 383 352

The Delignit Group employed 390 people in Germany on the reporting date. 

5. Auditor’s fees

The auditor’s fees recognised in the 2019 fiscal year break down as follows:

2019
€ thousand

2018
€ thousand

a) Audit of financial statements: 54.0 54.0
b) Tax advice: 37.0 41.3

91.0 95.3

6. Events after the reporting period

Corona infections (SARS-CoV-2) are having economic consequences (closing 
of operations and thus a negative impact on delivery and sales processes). 
As these dramatic developments occurred only from January 2020, it is to be 
anticipated that the occurrence of the corona virus as a global danger is to be 
classified as one impacting value. Thus accounting consequences are to be taken 
only in financial statements with reporting dates after 31 December 2019. At the 
current moment in time, the economic consequences cannot be conclusively 
assessed. There were no further events after the balance sheet date that 
would be classified as material.



Page 75 of 84

7. Appropriation of profits

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board will discuss the appropri-
ation of the net retained profits shown in the annual financial statements of 
Delignit AG for the year 2019, in the amount of €972,126.04 at the Supervi-
sory Board meeting to be held on 18 March 2020. The Management Board 
proposes, due to the business uncertainty as a result of the exceptional coro-
na infection (SARS-CoV-2) not to distribute a dividend and to carry forward net 
retained profits of €972,126.04.

8. Responsibility statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the generally accepted 
principles of proper Group financial reporting, the consolidated financial state-
ments give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results 
of operations of the Group, and the Group management report includes a fair 
review of the development and performance of the business and the position 
of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and 
risks associated with the expected development of the Group for the remain-
ing months of the fiscal year.

Blomberg, 12 March 2020

Markus Büscher
CEO

Thorsten Duray
CSO
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AUDIT OPINION OF THE AUDITOR

To Delignit AG, Blomberg

Audit opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Delignit AG, Blomb-
erg and its subsidiaries (the Group) – consisting of the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year from 1 January to 
31 December 2019 and the notes to the consolidated financial statements in-
cluding a summary of the significant accounting policies. In addition, we have 
audited the group management report of Delignit AG, Blomberg, for the fiscal 
year from 1 January to 31 December 2019.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit

	the attached consolidated financial statements, in all material respects, 
comply with the IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional require-
ments of German commercial law in accordance with Section 315e(1) HGB, 
and give a true and fair view of the net assets and financial position of 
the Group in accordance with these requirements as at 31 December 2019 
and its results of operations for the financial year from 1 January to 
31 December 2019 in accordance with these provisions; and

	that the accompanying group management report overall accurately repre-
sents the Group's current situation. In all material respects, this Group man-
agement report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, 
complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development.

In accordance with Section 322 (3) sentence 1 of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB), we declare that our audit has not resulted in any objections to 
the correctness of the consolidated financial statements and the group man-
agement report.

Basis for audit opinions

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with 
Section 317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the German gen-
erally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated 
by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Our responsibility under these 
provisions and policies is described further in the section of our audit report 
entitled “Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report”. We are independent of the 
group entities in accordance with the requirements of German commercial 
and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to serve as a 
basis for our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the 
Group management report.
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Responsibility of the legal representatives and the Supervisory Board for the 
consolidated financial statements and the group management report

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the consol-
idated financial statements, which comply with the regulations of the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applicable in the EU, and 
the additional regulations in accordance with Section 315 e (1) HGB, and the 
German legal regulations in all material respects, and that the consolidated 
financial statements give a fair view of the asset, financial and earning situ-
ation of the Group in accordance with the above regulations. Furthermore, 
the legal representatives are responsible for the internal controls that they 
have deemed necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from – intentional or unintentional – material mis-
statement.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal representatives 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going con-
cern. They are also responsible for disclosing matters in connection the con-
tinuation of business activities, if relevant. Furthermore, they are responsible 
for the accounting on the basis of the going concern principle, unless there 
is the intention to liquidate or discontinue the Group, or there is no realistic 
alternative.

Moreover, the legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of 
the Group management report that, on the whole, provides a suitable view 
of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and with German legal requirements, and 
accurately presents the risks and opportunities of future development. Also, 
the legal representatives are responsible for the precautions and measures 
(systems) that they deem necessary to enable the preparation of a Group 
management report in accordance with the applicable German legal require-
ments to provide sufficient suitable evidence for the statements in the Group 
management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial re-
porting process for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and of the group management report.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and of the Group management report

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consoli-
dated financial statements as a whole are free from material – intentional or 
unintentional – misstatement and whether the Group management report as 
a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and, in all material 
respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, audit find-
ings and German legal requirements, and accurately presents the risks and 
opportunities of future development, and to issue an audit report containing 
our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the Group 
management report.
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Sufficient assurance is a high level of assurance, but not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Section 317 of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) and in accordance with the German generally accepted stand-
ards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always reveal a material misstatement. Misstate-
ments can result from violations or inaccuracies and are regarded as material, 
if it could reasonably be expected that such misstatements will individually 
or collectively influence the economic decisions of addressees made on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements and the group management 
report.

We exercise due discretion and maintain a critical approach. Furthermore:

	We identify and assess the risks of – intentional or unintentional – materi-
al misstatements in the consolidated financial statements and the Group 
management report, we plan and perform audit procedures in response to 
these risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
form the basis of our audit opinions. The risk that material misstatements 
are not detected is greater for violations than for inaccuracies, as violations 
can include fraud, falsification, intentional omissions, misrepresentation or 
the invalidation of internal controls.

	We gain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the systems relevant 
to the audit of the Group management report in order to plan audit proce-
dures that are appropriate under the given circumstances, but not with the 
objective of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.

	We assess the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied by the 
legal representatives and the reasonableness of the estimates and related 
disclosures by the legal representatives.

	We draw conclusions about the appropriateness of the going concern prin-
ciple applied by the legal representatives and, on the basis of the audit ev-
idence obtained, whether there is material uncertainty about events or cir-
cumstances that can give rise to significant doubts about the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we come to the conclusion that material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to refer to the relevant disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report in 
the auditor’s report or, if these disclosures are inappropriate, to modify our 
respective audit opinion. We draw our conclusions on the basis of the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our opinion. However, future events or 
circumstances can lead to the Group being unable to continue its business 
activities.
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	we have assessed the overall presentation, the structure and the content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, as well 
as whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying 
transactions and events in such a manner that the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and 
results of operations of the Group in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by 
the EU, and the additional requirements of German law set out in Section 
315e (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

	We obtain sufficient, suitable audit evidence for the accounting informa-
tion of the companies or business activities within the Group in order to 
issue audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the Group 
management report. We are responsible for designing, monitoring and per-
forming the audit of the consolidated financial statements. We bear sole 
responsibility for our audit opinions.

	We assess that the Group management report is consistent with the con-
solidated financial statements and the law, and the view of the position of 
the Group that it provides.

	We perform audit procedures on the forward-looking statements made 
in the Group management report by the legal representatives. In particu-
lar, on the basis of sufficient and suitable audit evidence, we analyse the 
significant assumptions on which the forward-looking statements of the 
legal representatives are based, and assess whether the forward-looking 
statements have been properly derived from these assumptions. We do 
not express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the 
assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that 
future events will differ materially from the prospective information.

Among other things, we discuss with those responsible for overseeing the 
audit the planned scope and scheduling of the audit and significant audit find-
ings, including any deficiencies in the internal control system that we identify 
during our audit.

Cologne, 12 March 2020

Rödl & Partner GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

	 Stramitzer	 Wiethe
	 Wirtschaftsprüfer	 Wirtschaftsprüfer
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Condensed annual financial statements for 2019
of Delignit AG

Statement of financial position

Assets 31/12/2019

€ thousand
31/12/2018

€ thousand

Financial assets 6,062 10,429

Fixed assets 6,062 10,429

Receivables and other assets 7,879 3,653

Cash and cash equivalents and credit 
balances at financial institutions 56 258

Current assets 7,935 3,910

Total assets 13,997 14,339

Equity and Liabilities

Equity 13,155 12,791
Provisions 466 1,468
Other liabilities 376 80

Total assets 13,997 14,339
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Income statement 31/12/2019

€ thousand
31/12/2018

€ thousand

Revenue 635 610
Other operating income 28 117
Staff costs 545 1,825
Other operating expenses 261 378
Income from profit transfer agreements 695 3,394
Interest and similar income 569 444
Interest and similar expenses 1 0
Taxes on income and earnings 347 741

Earnings after tax/  
Net profit for the year 773 1,621

Profit carried forward from previous year 3,608 2,397
Allocation to retained earnings -3,000 0
Distribution to shareholders 410 410

Retained earnings 972 3,608
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Financial calendar

Annual report 2019

April 2020 

Annual General Meeting 2020

26 May 2020
Cancelled: Under the current circumstances, the Annual General Meeting has 
been cancelled.
The new date will be announced as soon as it has been determined.

Half-year financial report 2020

August 2020

End of fiscal year 2020:

31 December 2020

Contact

Investor Relations

Delignit AG
Königswinkel 2-6
32825 Blomberg, Germany
Tel.: +49-5235-966-100
Fax: +49-5235-966-105
www.delignit.com
E-mail: info@delignit.com

Legal notice

© Delignit AG 2020
Publisher	 Delignit AG 
		  Königswinkel 2-6
		  32825 Blomberg, Germany
Design 		 RLS jakobsmeyer GmbH, Paderborn
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Notes:
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